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--- Upon commencing at 9:05 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  Today is the third day in the hearing of Hydro One's distribution rate application EB-2009-0096.

Today we will complete the examination of witness panel 1 dealing with green energy issues, and begin the examination of panel 2 dealing with policy matters.

May I ask if there is any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I can advise the Board that this morning we are filing, and have copies to hand out, answers to the following undertakings:  J1.3, J1.4, J1.5, J2.1, J2.2, and J2.3.

This answers all outstanding undertakings save one, J1.6, which we cannot answer until the OPA provides the material on which the undertaking will be based.

Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, there is one other matter I think my friend may wish to deal with.  The confidential documents - I believe they were the November update of materials provided to Hydro One board of directors, along with a summary of those documents - was made available on Friday, but I don't believe a number was given to it.

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  There were in fact two documents, as I understand.  There is the summary of the document, and then there is the document itself.

MR. ROGERS:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The summary we'll call -- this is the summary of a submission to the board of directors dated November 11th, 2009 and we will call that Exhibit K3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  SUMMARY OF SUBMISSION TO BOARD OF DIRECTORS DATED NOVEMBER 11, 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the confidential document itself will be KX3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KX3.2:  CONFIDENTIAL DOCUMENT.

MR. ROGERS:  So that the summary is K3.1?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my preliminary matters.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you want to proceed?
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC - PANEL 1, GREEN ENERGY PLAN (resumed)


David Curtis, Previously Sworn


Mark Graham, Previously Sworn


Ron Salt, Previously Sworn
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar (continued):


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.

I have just a couple of questions left on capital in the Green Energy Plan, and then I am going to shift to some O&M questions, and then I am going to hand it over to Ms. Lea.

Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3?  That's D1, tab 3, schedule 3.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Page 17.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I will just wait until we get it up on the screens here so everyone can see.

Yes.  If you would scroll down a bit, you will see there is a section 2.3.1.2, "Station Upgrades for Protection, Control and Load Rejection".  If you look to the last sentence of that first paragraph, you see:

"Current estimates based on existing generator applications are that 90 station sites will need to be upgraded but as with Targeted Enhancements, specific locations will only be identified after the launch of the FIT program."

Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I am really just asking some supplemental questions based on my questions on Tuesday, but it is fairly clear from this that you don't actually know exactly which stations will have to be upgraded?

MR. SALT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And will you know that after the OPA releases its information on which FIT contracts have been accepted?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SALT:  There will be some analysis that is required to determine the extent of the projects.

MR. MILLAR:  The actual upgrades, perhaps, but the station sites you would know?

MR. SALT:  I think so.  Like, that's what the decisions would be based on, but it's sort of a cumulative process, that we have to look at how many projects are connected to each substation and determine at what point we want to put in SCADA to control it.

So definitely it will be based on the projects.  It is just exactly when we would have enough information to make that determination I am hesitating on.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I would like to turn to another of the ISDs, which I think is actually related to this point.  It is ISD 30, which is at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and then the projects follow from that.  It is ISD number 30.

Here it is.  This is "DS Upgrades for Protection, Control and Load Rejection".  If I look down at "Results", the first bullet point, it says:

"Proactively install protections and controls at approximately 90 sites to enable efficient generation connections."


Are those the same 90 sites that we were talking about in the previous exhibit?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  This is the same project we're talking about.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SALT:  I would just like to add that "proactively" is -- I think we had a similar type of question earlier.

MR. MILLAR:  We did, yes.

MR. SALT:  And "proactively" is a little stronger than we would like to -- we really want to base this on firm projects and firm need.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And I figured you would give that response.  We did discuss this on Tuesday, so proactive is not necessarily an accurate descriptor anymore.  These are going to be based on actual need for actual projects; is that correct?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at under "Results" bullet point 2, I guess these are the benefits to this project.  It says:
"Minimize the need for one-at-a-time installations as generator proponents sign agreements and minimize administration and project management costs."


Does that benefit fall off now, since it's not being done on a proactive manner; it is actually being done based on individual projects?

MR. SALT:  No.  We can still connect the projects, but the question becomes monitoring and control.

We would do that when we have a sufficient mass to go forward, but I am not expecting that is -- that second bullet doesn't apply.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that second bullet wasn't based on the fact you were doing it in a proactive manner.  That still applies even if you are doing it --

MR. SALT:  We are not speculating.  It will be based on projects that are signed up or close to being signed up, and we would just send our crews into one area to do all the stations in that area at once.  That is how it is being expected to roll out.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Could I ask you to turn back to the Green Energy Plan itself, page 27.  That is Exhibit A, tab 14 --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I am going to interrupt for one minute to make sure I understand.  When you mean signed up, do you mean signed up with the OPA or do you mean having signed a connection agreement with Hydro One?

MR. SALT:  I think it would be a combination of both of them.  It would be definitely a major portion signed up with Hydro One, and also that there's sufficient interest that through contracting with OPA, that we know we're going to have a need for it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could ask you to turn up Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 27?  And just to give you the context, this is the portion of the Green Energy Plan addressing smart grid development.

If you look at the first, I guess, full paragraph starting at line 7, it states:

"The Board's planning guideline G-2009-0087 states that costs incurred related to Smart Grid should be collected in a variance account and a funding adder requested to provide advance funding for this work.  While Hydro One Distribution is not against the use of a variance account and funding adder, the company believes that its Smart Grid investments are necessary, used and useful, and sufficiently well defined to include as part of its rate base expenditures for the test years."


Do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to make sure I am clear exactly what Hydro One's position is.  I take it your preference is that we don't go by way of deferral accounts and rate adders, or something of that nature, that it just goes directly to rate base; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  However, I guess you say you're not against the use of a variance account.  So if the Board -- ultimately, the Board will determine whatever it wants, I suppose, but you're not necessarily opposed to that option if the Board finds it necessary?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, Mr. Millar, this is something that you might want to follow up with Mr. Struthers, because this gets into the financial implications, as well, which we're not prepared to talk about.

But, in general -- well, I think he will be ready to talk to it.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Rogers warned me that might be the case.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Just so there is no confusion about this, the company's position in its application is clear.  But obviously there is a lot of interest in a variance account approach.  I propose to ask Mr. Struthers about the company's position on this point and the rationale for it, and then he can answer all of your questions about it.

MS. NOWINA:  That makes sense, Mr. Rogers.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  And I'll leave those questions for now.

Okay, I am going to move on to another area.  Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff IR 151?  That's Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 151.

And in this IR - I will just read the question - Staff asked you to:

"Please provide a detailed calculation of how these amounts were determined..."

And by "these amounts" we mean the 8 million and 30.7 million that are presumed to be eligible for external funding.
"...clearly showing all assumptions used in determining these amounts."

So this is -- this is interesting.  I would like to look through with you the chart that you provided.  First of all, I see that no OM&A is being allocated, if "allocated" is the right word.  None of that is being recovered generally from external ratepayers; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I think there is a minor exception to that and that's conservation money.  But I will get to that in a minute.  But generally, for your GE plan, none of the OM&A is, at least in your proposal, being recovered generally from the province's ratepayers.

If, then, we look down at depreciation, for example, and as we've discussed, you don't know what the specific assets are, so can you tell me how you came up with your depreciation figures?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, we do know what we expect to build in terms of the assets.  The SCADA systems that Mr. Salt talked about would be part of the underlying request, the kilometres of expansion, so that's distribution line.  So it would be based, I'm assuming -- I haven't done the depreciation calculation, but I am assuming it would be based on that information.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you also, in a -- I think you also indicated, however, that you're depreciating the assets over 20 years based on the life of the contracts; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I'm not sure how that meshes with the answer you just provided.

Did you simply take the entire capital budget -- let's turn back to the first page of the Green Energy Plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Millar, if I could --

MR. MILLAR:  Do you want to punt this one?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, no, no.  I don't want to actually - am I getting a reputation?

[Laughter]

MR. GRAHAM:  The fact is that some of these assets, we would have said would have benefit to our customers, so you still would have had to look at the depreciation period for that purpose.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Your reputation is that you speak too quickly.

[Laughter]

MR. GRAHAM:  Thanks for adding that.  The 20 years, you're correct, would be used for the externally funded portion.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if you just look at page 1 of the Green Energy Plan, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, you might want to keep both of these open.

MR. GRAHAM:  Oh, okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Or not.

MR. GRAHAM:  I've got it.

MR. MILLAR:  So you see under, just for example, 2010, you have the capital column, and then you have near the bottom "less externally funded costs" and I see for 2010, it is 139 million, and for 2011, 236 million.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it what you -- just first, maybe you can confirm for me that the external funding here is the portion that will be paid by all of the province's ratepayers; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So to get to the depreciation amount in Board Staff 151, did you simply amortize the 139 over 20 years?  Is that how you came up with 3.5 million for depreciation in 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  I didn't do the calculation.  It doesn't sound untoward to me to suggest that's what would have been done.

MR. MILLAR:  And then similarly with 2011, I see 12.8 million for depreciation.  Is that simply a 20-year amortization of 236 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would be on the similar basis to the first number, so assuming the first number was calculated that way, the second one would be as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be possible, maybe by way of undertaking -- I prefer to have better than a -- that's what it looks like to me as well and seems to look like that.  Would you be able to provide me the actual calculation as to how that number was arrived at, by way of undertaking?

MR. ROGERS:  We could do that, Madam Chair.  I believe that Mr. Van Dusen in the next panel can give you the details of how this was done.  If it could wait, it would save an undertaking.  I am sure he can answer your question.

MR. MILLAR:  I can wait if there is another panel that can answer this question.

MR. ROGERS:  Would that be satisfactory, Madam Chair?  It just saves the paperwork.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me ask another question here, and if it has to go to Mr. --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Millar.  Excuse me.  I beg your pardon.  I am instructed that you are generally right.  I think there is some nuances that perhaps could be explained by Mr. Van Dusen.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll bring it up with him.


MR. ROGERS:  But generally speaking, you are correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

And I understand -- again, if this has to go to Mr. Van Dusen, then I will raise it with him -- but you've done the 20-year depreciation, I understand, for two reasons: one, that is the length of the contract but that is also an easy number to use because you don't necessarily know the exact assets.  Am I right about that?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  I think it is basically the first, that we know that is the length of the contract and we don't know that the generation is going to have benefit beyond that.  So I think that the assumption underlying the 20 years.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  I see.  So your -- you have an -- you substituted the length of the contract for the length of the asset life, but not arbitrarily, at least in your view.  The reason for that is that this may in fact be the useful life of those assets?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is based on our determination of what's the appropriate assumption to make around economic life.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you're not doing the same calculation for the amounts that close to your own rate base; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So why is there that disconnect?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I believe what we're doing in terms of the assets in our rate base, again, they're there in the first place because we assume they have benefit to our distribution customers.  That's why they're paying for them.  So in that case, we would expect them to have an ongoing benefit for the life of the system, basically.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So even if the contract is not renewed, for example, those benefits would remain with your customers?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I understand that, so thank you.

My next question was going to be:  Once you have the information on the actual -- what the actual assets are, would you update the depreciation figures for the provincially-funded portion?  And I -- I take it from our discussion just now that the answer to that is no?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, the actual calculation will be based on what actually goes in service, but if we're assuming 20-year depreciation for all of it, there is no need to update the calculation because of slight changes in this asset to that asset.  Now, in terms of the overall volume, of course that can affect anything.

MR. MILLAR:  What if there are assets that have
less -- that normally have less than a 20-year lifespan?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's a good question.  I think as far as I know, we're not talking here about system assets and so on.  We're talking about distribution system assets, and typically, I think those would be minimum of 20 years in terms of the capital assets we're putting in service.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if that -- if the company made that consideration, if they actually checked if any of these would be less than 20 years?  Or should I raise this with --

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.  I think you may want to raise that with Mr. Van Dusen.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn to Schools 23?  That is Exhibit H, 10 -- Exhibit H, tab 10, schedule 23.

I believe Mr. DeVellis already took you to this exhibit.  And it was essentially asking you to do the depreciation figures, I guess, in the normal fashion -- if I can call it that way -- based on asset life.  And you did make a stab at doing that for him and the numbers came out a little bit different.

Have I characterized that correctly?

MR. GRAHAM:  They are somewhat lower because of the longer life; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Without knowing what the assets were, how did you make that calculation?  I guess some assumptions must have gone into that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, to my previous response, we would know that there's an assumption of yea-many SCADA systems, this many kilometres of line, so I would assume again, subject to confirmation by Mr. Van Dusen, that that is what would have been used.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I may take that up with Mr. Van Dusen as well, but thank you for that.

Okay.  The Green Energy Plan, could I ask you to go back to page 1, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2?

And I just -- I am going to be asking you questions about the O&M spending that's in the plan and perhaps some of the spending that's not in the plan.  But first, maybe we can just review the numbers to make sure we're all talking about the same thing.

I see that for both 2010 and 2011, from your own ratepayers, you intend to recover $13 million in O&M related to the Green Energy Plan; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that comes from -- the way we get that number is it is 3 million for renewable generation and 10 million for smart grid; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it's the same in both 2010 and 2011?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then I also -- just to clear this up, there is a line item under "Energy conservation" which shows in both of the test years as 20 million, but then if you skip down to "Less externally funded costs" we see an offsetting credit -- if I can call it that -- in the amount of 20 million.

What I understand that to be are these are conservation activities that the company will be undertaking, but will be funded through the OPA; is that correct?

MR. CURTIS:  They will be funded through some external mechanism.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. CURTIS:  It may or may not be through the OPA, depending on how the CDM program is defined.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the 20 million -- where it says less externally funded costs, there is 20 million, that's the same 20 million that we see in the energy conservation line?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Now, compared to the capital amounts, the O&M figures are a bit -- are quite a bit lower in both the test years, particularly in 2011.

First of all, I can ask you, in your calculations of your capital amounts, can I assume that that includes capitalized O&M?

MR. GRAHAM:  It would include capitalized overhead.  Is that what you're talking about?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think so.  There would be O&M-type work that goes in to those capital investments, but that is -- maybe I am not describing it correctly.

MR. GRAHAM:  In specific, there are shared services type work that gets allocated through the overhead process and that -- I mean, we would assume, because of the allocation, in fact, it is capital-related work.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  We're talking about the same thing.  I just wanted to make sure that had been done.

Okay, can I ask you to turn to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2 and page 14?  If we could just skip down, if we look at line -- no, I'm sorry.  Just give me one moment.  I apologize.

If you look at line 17 here, this is related to renewable generation connections.  It states, starting at line 15:
"The on-going OM&A costs associated with maintaining the portion of Expansion and REI capital investments to be funded by all customers in Ontario are assumed to be negligible over the test year period. However, if these OM&A costs are determined to have increased to material levels at some point in the future, Hydro One Distribution will seek approval to include them as part of the revenue requirement to be externally funded."


So two questions here.  First, are you anticipating coming back before the end of the two test years?

MR. CURTIS:  No, we are not.

MR. MILLAR:  So this would be at some future rates application?

MR. CURTIS:  After 2010 and 2011, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And I see here you indicate that you at least may seek recovery -- external funding for these types of costs; is that right?

MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is it that currently none of the -- you haven't sought external funding currently for any of the O&M costs?

MR. CURTIS:  Well, for this particular area, which is the REI expenditures, what we're saying is that over the two test year periods there isn't expected to be much in the way of these sorts of OM&A costs.  So we didn't see it necessary to include that, in terms of our current rate revenue requirement filing.

However, in the future, if there is additional maintenance work that's required on these particular assets, maintenance activities, which would be expensed on an OM&A basis, then we feel it would be appropriate to apply for recovery on the basis that we've explained here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, maybe you can -- I would ask you to follow up with that a bit and explain to me the difference as to why the current O&M costs, the 13 million associated with the GE plan, why you are not seeking any external recovery for those?

Some of these may in fact be questions for the January panel.  I'm not sure, but I will try them on you.

MR. CURTIS:  Well, again, what we're feeling is that the costs that we have identified in the current application are costs of the company for their customers, and so it is appropriate to be requesting their recovery in the current rate application.

What we're talking about here is that in terms, for example, of the REI expenditures, that these would be investments for other customers or to help other customers, and that, in future, if -- after the capital investment has been made, if in future there is additional work that's required that would be OM&A expense, that for those costs it would be appropriate to apply for the external recovery mechanism.

In other words, until there has actually been work completed, like the capital investment, there aren't really any OM&A costs being triggered.  It's only after the assets are in place that this would happen.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I will follow up on that in a moment.

One final follow-up question on this particular point, and I suspect this will be a question for the January panel, but I will put it to you now.

In Hydro One's understanding, are there any restrictions in either the Act or I guess specifically Regulation 330/09 - that's the splitting regulation - are there any restrictions in that regulation preventing the company from putting O&M expenses in the socialization part, if I can put it that way?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, if we understand the Reg correctly - and, again, I think this will be determined fully through the January panel - the expenses that are eligible for collection from province-wide customers as opposed to from our distribution ratepayers would be those that relate directly to new generation.

And because the smart grid expenditures relate to our business overall and to our general customers, as well as our generator customers, we have not included any of the smart grid related expenditures for recovery under the external funding.

So the 10 million of the 13 million that's smart grid related, for example, would not be eligible for connection -- in our understanding, because of the connection, I should say.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, I really do think we're getting into the January discussion.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will move on.

Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2?

Just as a general observation, I note that throughout its evidence, Hydro One made several references to O&M increases relating to the Green Energy Act and the Green Energy Plan.  If you look at line starting at line 13, for example, on this page:
"Increases in development expenditures are primarily attributed to the work required to integrate distributed generation and an increased focus on smart grid, in response to direction provided by the Green Energy and Green Economy Act, 2009 (GEGEA).  Also contributing to the total increase in OM&A expenditures is an increasing shared services workload associated with supporting larger core SDO work programs, including GEGEA driven work as well as increased Cornerstone sustainment and enablement activities."

Do you see that?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then you spoke of development expenditures there.  If you look up in the chart under "Development OM&A", you see in 2008 an expenditure of 8 million.  In the two test years you are almost at 22 million.

Are you able to tell us how much of that increase is related to the Green Energy Plan?

MR. CURTIS:  Could I take you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3?  And if you go to page 2 of that exhibit, we have more information in terms of where those cost increases are being driven from.

You see the bullets that are listed there.  So there is investment in terms of smart grid standards development, in terms of technology research to support the smart grid investments.

The third -- the bullet that starts on page 13, the increases are addressing increasing needs to interface with generator connection proponents.  In other words, we're going to have considerable increase in the number of generators under the FIT program that are approaching us for information on their connection that we will have to be able to provide for.


And then the following bullet:

"Increased research & development to understand and address the complexities associated with generation connections and the development of new standards for generation connections."

And those, those would be the specific areas under the Green Energy Act that would drive that increase in OM&A expense.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to give me a number associated with that?  What -- what portion of the increase from the 2008 expenditures to 2010 are -- result directly from the Green Energy Plan?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't have those numbers with me.  I would suggest there -- there may be two ways of doing this.  The sustainment development and operations panel -- which I believe is panel number 3 -- could probably address that.  Or we -- we may be able to provide you... I am looking at my counsel.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Millar, I don't know the exact number but if you do look at the table that Mr. Curtis referred you to at C1, 2, 3, table 1, you can see that this smart grid standards and technology is completely new, so 10 million of the increase is that.  And some of the increase, at least in the other $3 million, is there.

So the majority of the increase that is shown here would be due to things that are related to, if you will, the Green Energy-type activities.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  This is just development OM&A; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  So -- so would it be fair to say that at least $13 million of the development OM&A budget is related directly to the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say 13 million.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, 13 is appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could ask you to go back to C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, it's the chart we were just looking at.

When I read you the excerpt down around page -- or line 17 or so, you also referenced the increase of the total OM&A budget resulting from the Green Energy Plan.

I see, if you look at the chart itself, the total for 2008 was 471 million, and for 2010 and 2011, you have 560 and 575 million respectively.

Are you able to provide me a -- a number, even if only in ballpark fashion, as to how much of that increase is directly attributable to the Green Energy Plan?

MR. CURTIS:  It would be the total in each one of the several areas.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. CURTIS:  In our discussions -- I don't want to leave the impression that the total increase is entirely attributed to the Green Energy Act, in terms of comparing the 2008 expenditures with the 2010 and '11.

You're -- you're asking for the increases that are specifically attributable back to the Green Energy --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  -- Act?

MR. MILLAR:  The Green Energy Plan.

MR. CURTIS:  The Green Energy Plan, rather.

MR. MILLAR:  I can take this up with panel 3, if that is a better --

MR. CURTIS:  Well, that's what I'm going to suggest, because there are increases that are attributed back to the Green Energy Plan that are specifically in development, as we've identified, and operations and customer care have increases attributed back.

And the -- the panel that's been set up to talk specifically about the sustainment, development and operations, I think, could address that

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is it fair to say it is more than $13 million in each of the test years?  We've already got more than --

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are these expenses that you are incurring only because of the Green Energy Plan, that you would not otherwise incur?

MR. CURTIS:  No, no.  Actually, that's the reason why they are in our rate application.

This -- this is a result, in part, because of the increased workload arising from the Green Energy Plan.  But there is also increased workload that is occurring outside of the Green Energy Plan.

And what ends up happening, then, is because of the overall increase in work volume, these costs have increased in -- in terms of the forecast.

So it's not exclusively identifiable back to the Green Energy Plan.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's not what I had understood previously, but perhaps what you're telling me is it's best I take this up with panel 3?

MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Millar, I am wondering if that is the best approach, because I think what you are asking for is some kind of representation of how much of this is in the Green Energy Plan and how much is other than that.  And if that calculation hasn't been done by Hydro One for presentation to us, panel 3 might be able to explain the rationale, but I am not sure that we would get the information that you are asking for.

I wonder if an undertaking to be discussed with panel 3 might be more helpful?

MR. MILLAR:  You are quite right, Madam Chair.  What I -- what I am trying to get to through a series of questions is to get an estimate of exactly what O&M costs are directly attributable to the Green Energy Plan.

MS. NOWINA:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And f this is the panel, or this is the panel I could take an undertaking from, then -- then I would be very happy to do that.  If all of that information can be provided by panel 3, then I could take it up with them.  But you are right.  I don't want to lose this panel and not be able to get an answer to that question.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, and I don't want to delay the filing of the information that we might want to ask panel 3 questions about, so I will ask Mr. Rogers whether or not it is appropriate to take an undertaking now, or if you would prefer that we wait for panel 3.

MR. ROGERS:  I think we should take an undertaking now, but let me explain the difficulty, as I understand it here.  The $13 million is the -- or more or less the $13 million that has been discussed this morning are the additional costs, incremental costs that relate to the Green Energy Plan.

There are additional costs that arise out of the Green Energy Act, which are different from the plan.  And I think it's the Act costs that are difficult to tease out here.

MS. NOWINA:  I see.  Well, let's clarify for Mr. Millar which it is he is looking for.

MR. ROGERS:  I can assure you the next panel --

MS. NOWINA:  That's an interesting --

MR. ROGERS:  -- will be -- be thinking about how to answer this question.  If you want to give a specific undertaking, I am sure they will do their best to try and find it.

MR. MILLAR:  I want the costs directly attributable to the Green Energy Plan.

Now, that being said --

MR. ROGERS:  We have those.

MR. MILLAR:  -- the distinction, I am not clear exactly what the distinction will be for Green Energy Act money versus Green Energy Plan money.  So to the extent that those are different, I guess I would like an explanation of that.

MR. ROGERS:  Why don't we take an undertaking, Madam Chair, to -- the company will do its best to address the concern.  I understand the drift of the concern.  I don't know how it can be answered best, but let --

MS. NOWINA:  Actually, I was backing off that position, Mr. Rogers, thinking that if it's -- if we need further understanding about what is meant by Green Energy Act and Green Energy Plan, that might be best taken up with panel 3, and then ask for the undertaking once we understand their explanation of the distinction.

MR. MILLAR:  I am happy to take that up with panel 3, but what maybe I do need from this panel -- and if it is not this panel, that's fine -- I would like a break down of all of the OM&A expenses specifically attributable to the Green Energy Plan.

MR. CURTIS:  And I -- I believe you have those.

MR. MILLAR:  That's just the 13 million?

MR. CURTIS:  That's just the 13 million.

MR. MILLAR:  And any -- I have a list of questions to go through, where you reference either Green Energy Act or Green Energy Plan expenditures that seem to -- the total seems to go well beyond 13.  In fact, we've already discussed some of those.

MR. CURTIS:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Questions as to why that is Green Energy Act versus Green Energy Plan are for the next panel?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  May I suggest -- I think, Madam Chair, I would like to take up your observation, and that does make sense to think about it.  If my friend could hold his questions until the next panel, they will be aware of the issue.  If they weren't already, they certainly will be by the break, and hopefully we will be equipped to explain to the Board the problem here.

And then -- and then if an undertaking is appropriate, on that information base, we can get it then.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be of some interest as to whether the -- the subsequent panel could put its mind to whether they're directly or indirectly related.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Rather than limiting it strictly to the directly related costs.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Mr. Sommerville.  It is the indirect part, I think, is the difficult here.

MS. NOWINA:  MR. Millar, are you all right with that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That probably takes care of pretty much all of the rest of my questions.  Yes.  Those are my questions.  


Thank you, panel.  I will hand you over to the tender ministrations of Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

And thank you, panel.  I appreciate the opportunity for Board Staff to divide its cross-examination in this fashion, and I hope that it will prove an effective means of dealing with some additional questions.

Gentlemen, I would like to begin by referring you to a package which I provided to you and your counsel on Tuesday and I am going to ask Mr. Thiessen now to provide it to the Board Panel.

This package consists of pieces of legislation and publicly available documents, largely Board documents.  So it's not strictly an exhibit.  It is not new evidence, by any means.

So Madam Chair, do you wish to give this an exhibit number for identification?  Or shall we --

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Why don't we do that, Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  That will be K3.3, please.  And I think we just entitle it "Bundle of documents from Board Staff".  I am not sure there is a better title for it.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3 (FOR IDENTIFICATION):  BUNDLE OF DOCUMENTS FROM BOARD STAFF.

MS. LEA:  And with respect to my friends, I brought enough copies for the number of tickets we sold on Tuesday afternoon, and I see that our attendance has increased today.  If you wish a copy of these documents, I have handed a few out to those that I managed to catch before we commenced.  If you wish a copy, I will provide them to you later.  It's all publicly available documents.

Gentlemen, I wanted to begin by having a look at two interrogatories related to CDM costs, please, and those two interrogatories are H, tab 1, schedule 45 -- Board Staff 45, and H, tab 7, schedule 18, please.

In the VECC interrogatory, which is H, tab 7, schedule 18 --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.  If you could just give us a second to find it, please?

MS. LEA:  Yes, hmm-hmm.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, we have both of those.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  If you look at H, tab 7, schedule 18, in the last line of that interrogatory answer, you will see that you have indicated that:
"The CDM program costs will continue to be externally funded, similar to the funding currently provided by the Ontario Power Authority, and as such, CDM is not part of the costs being sought for recovery in this proceeding."

I gather that you mean not sought for recovery from your own ratepayers in this proceeding?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Could you look, then, at H1, schedule -- H, tab 1, schedule 45, and I wonder if you could tell me whether these two interrogatories are inconsistent.

In H, tab 1, schedule 45, it indicates in the response that the strategy and business development function includes approximately $1 million in each of 2010 and 2011 related to the design, development and maintenance of CDM programs?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  Are these interrogatories inconsistent?  I don't understand why one says you are putting it in rates and the other doesn't.

MR. CURTIS:  The interrogatory that is H-7-18 talks about the CDM programs and the costs associated with the programs.

This is the discussion, for example, that I had with Mr. Klippenstein in terms of programs like Powersaver.

The costs that are referred to in H-1-45 are the strategy, business development costs in order to maintain the CDM function within Hydro One.  So they are not -- these costs we do not feel are directly attributable to specific programs.

It is our understanding that it will be the specific program costs that would be recoverable through the more globally available recovery mechanism that would be set up.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. CURTIS:  So there is those costs that we're talking about.  And, in addition, just for completeness, there is another group of costs that total about $1 million that are not being recovered through the global mechanism that are discussed in the interrogatory H-10-6, for example.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  I'm sorry, I've got the wrong interrogatory.  H-4-2-3 and 4.  In fact, the best one probably is schedule 5 in that series.

MS. LEA:  Tab 4, schedule 5?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.  You see at the bottom there, there is a table?

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  And there is -- the first entry there is maintenance of MARR-funded programs.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  The million dollars that is in there is also in our rate application.  It is not assumed to be recoverable through the global funding mechanism.

And this arises because you may recall the MARR-funded CDM programs were funded out of the first year of additional revenue requirement --

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  -- that utilities gained at deregulation.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I appreciate that additional information.  I wonder if you could look with me at the first document in that bundle that I provided you, and that first page is entitled "Guidelines For Electricity Distributor Conservation and Demand Management".  It's a Board guideline, EB-2008-0037.

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  I have provided you with only one page, although I can give you the whole thing, if you need it.  And that one page contains appendix B, which talks about guidelines for the application of fully allocated costing for CDM activities.

The third paragraph there of this appendix B states:
"For CDM activities funded by the OPA, the direct costs and proportional share of the indirect costs attributable to OPA-funded CDM activities should be removed from the distributor's distribution rates, and more appropriately recovered through the distributor's OPA-funded CDM activities."


I am wondering whether the first million that I asked you about, even if it doesn't apply to the second million which you so kindly provided, is in fact better recovered through the OPA mechanism?

MR. CURTIS:  It may very well be.  Again, it is our understanding that we're talking here in terms of actual program costs, even in terms of the indirect activities that are talked about in that paragraph, because indirect costs should be attributable back to the specific program.

MS. LEA:  And the types of costs in the first million dollars that we discussed are indirect costs not directly attributable to programs?

MR. CURTIS:  Not to individual specific programs.  We're talking about, for example, the overall strategic approach Hydro One would be taking in terms of CDM -- the delivery of the CDM program.

It would be in terms of discussions with our senior management in terms of the approach.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I think I understand your position there.

I am now going to turn to several lines of questioning dealing very directly with issue 9.1 on the issues list, and that is:  Does Hydro One's Green Energy Plan meets the Board's filings guidelines and the objectives set out in the Green Energy and Green Economy Act 2009?

You will need to have before you for this line of questioning, of course, your Green Energy Plan, and also a copy of the Board's guidelines, G-2009-0087.  I understand that the witness panel has those and that the Board Panel has those.

Madam Chair, would it be appropriate -- are these on the record?  Are they an exhibit?  I haven't seen them as an exhibit, but -- no, okay.  Would it be appropriate, just again for reference, to have these marked as an exhibit?

MS. NOWINA:  All right, Ms. Lea.  We will do that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be K3.4, please.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  GREEN ENERGY PLAN AND BOARD'S GUIDELINES, G-2009-0087.

MS. LEA:  I have extra copies here for anyone that needs them.

So I wonder, then, if we could turn to page 10 of the Board's guidelines for Green Energy Plans, please.

MR. GRAHAM:  I am feeling crowded over here.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry about that, sir.  You have to suffer to testify.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have to.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Only under my tender ministrations, as Mr. Millar put it.  It's going to follow me.

On page 10 of the guidelines, at the last paragraph in that -- on that page, the Board's guidelines indicate that the Green Energy Plans filed should contain a section called "Current Assessment", and whether your plan contains a section or not, I think what is important is:  Is the information there?

And the information is:

"Discuss the distribution system's current capacity to accommodate the connection of renewable generation and/or its state with respect to development of a smart grid."

The assessment should identify any expenditures which you've done, and so on, but I was wondering whether your plan contains a current assessment?

MR. GRAHAM:  We believe it does.

MS. LEA:  Can you point me to those sections, please, or the information?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is buried in the introduction, the objective section and the individual sections with respect to renewable generation, smart grid and CDM.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Can you point me, then, to the information that talks about the distribution system's current capacity to accommodate the connection of renewable generation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  I have to look through here.  I know, for example, your reference to the transmission constraints, at some point, at least we -- sorry.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  I am going to take you to those.  So I accept that there's transmission constraints.  But your system's current capacity, it may be in there, sir -- and I don't want to be persnickety about having a specific section -- but the information is important.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  Because it is in bits and pieces, I am going to take a little time, I'm afraid.

MS. LEA:  Would it be preferable, sir, to satisfy this question by undertaking or after the break or whatever?

MR. ROGERS:  I would suggest that, Madam Chair, if that is okay, rather than have him waste your time looking through the document.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, let's do it as an undertaking.  As opposed to after the break, because I am assuming you are going to be finished by the break, Ms. Lea; is that right?

MS. LEA:  Put that way, Madam Chair, I think I better.  That would be Undertaking J3.1, please, and the undertaking is to provide references in the Green Energy Plan to the current assessment of Hydro One's distribution system.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  To Provide references in the Green Energy Plan to the current assessment of Hydro One's distribution system.

MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, in the package I gave you, and as I mentioned to you a few days ago, Regulation 326 of '09 under the Electricity Act, and a section of the Electricity Act requires certain information that distributors are to report publicly.

You will find these pieces of legislation in the package that I have handed to you, and I hope you have had an opportunity to look at them, from my warning previously.

In Regulation 326 of '09, Section 4 of that Regulation, under the Electricity Act, specifically 4 (2):

"Distributors are required to report certain information regarding the capacity of their distribution system to accommodate generation from renewable energy generation facilities."

The regulation goes on to list a number of pieces of information.

Is Hydro One ready to provide that information in accordance with the legislation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we are.  With respect to the first four items, which are specific, we area available -- we have that available.  It is not all on our website at this point in time, but it can be made available.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  The -- the reason I bring this up, sir, is it seems to me to be fairly similar to the sort of information that would be included in a current assessment under a Green Energy Plan; would you agree?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think so.

MS. LEA:  And if -- if the information, if the references in your Green Energy Plan do not contain this information, you would be able to provide it as a follow-up to the undertaking that you're talking about?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  And I would point out -- I forget the undertaking number, but the information we were discussing the other day with respect to the various TSes and the capacity and the projects that applied to them, Mr. Millar was taking us through some of that information that provides what we provide on the website right now.  That can be expanded.  I think if you look at that item D, the available capacity is already on the website.  And A, B and C are used in the calculation of D, and we do have that information available.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Well, I guess since the Board has to approve your plan, we better find out where the references are in the plan, as well.  So we will take your undertaking on that.

What information, in your view, what information exchange should occur between a distributor and the Ontario Power Authority before that distributor can really present a Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there's a few areas.  For example one of the things I've talked about already was with respect to transmission constraints.  Distribution connected projects would also need to abide by, if you will, those transmission constraints.  So that's definitely an area of interchange.

With respect to the assessment processes that the OPA is going to undertake with respect to whether to offer contracts, to the extent there is distribution connected projects that are part of that process that the interchange needs to happen with respect to that, to make sure that is done on a consistent basis and the distributor is aware of  which of its projects are going forward.

The distributor's plans for enhancements, expansions et cetera, would need to be such that they could be used and useful with respect to the constraints that the OPA is going to put on to the contracts that the OPA is going to issue.

So there is a number of areas that are going to require interaction between the agencies.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  So transmission constraints, certainly, and the -- the distribution connections that the OPA sees for the distributor's service area, both of those would be very important?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would agree.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  Anything else?

MR. GRAHAM:  Nothing that springs to mind.  There is probably other things.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Well, we can -- that will no doubt evolve with time.

Again, going back, then, to the Board's guidelines, this time at pages 11 and 12, under "Renewable Generation Connection Information" --


MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Ms. Lea.  I seem to have lost my reference for a second.

MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  I've got them.  Sorry.  Which page?

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Well, perhaps I could take you to page 12 directly.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Page 11 begins the section on renewable generation connection information, and on page 12, at the last bullet point -- well, the third bullet point from the top, which is the last bullet point for renewable generation connection, the plans are in -- supposed to contain a discussion of the risks to successful completion of the activity and the actions to be undertaken to mitigate those risks.

I know you discuss transmission constraints in your plan.  What other risks and mitigation have you discussed in your plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I'm just looking through it again.

MS. LEA:  And again, if it is better to do this by undertaking, I am quite happy to accept an undertaking for you to find that in your plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that might be more complete to do that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J3.2, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  To Identify risks and mitigation in Green Energy Plan.

MS. LEA:  I did want to focus on one specific risk, then, that you have already mentioned.  And in order to do that, I -- I referred to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 149, which was a Board staff interrogatory, and it asked you:

"What are the major constraints that Hydro One faces in achieving the goal of connecting 7,000 megawatts of new renewable generation?"

But I don't think that the interrogatory answer was complete.  In your answer to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 149, you say that:

"The forecast of connections also assumes that the necessary regional and bulk transmission upgrades are in place to allow this level of distribution connected renewables to be delivered to load centres in the province."

So you have assumed that those transmission upgrades are in place; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But you have agreed that one of the major risks to the completion of your plan are the transmission constraints in the province?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, and I would add a little information to that.  For the first two years, we're basically not talking about any new transmission freeing up those constraints going into service, so the 2010/2011 forecasts are constrained by the existing transmission constraints that are there in the system already.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  And we're talking about additional lines - Bruce-to-Milton, for example - going in service right now, hopefully in 2012, so that that would free up additional connection capability in the area that is served by that line.  So we have assumed that Bruce-to-Milton is in place with respect to what we can achieve in the latter three years of the plan.

MS. LEA:  For the first two years of the plan, are you assuming any transmission upgrades are done?

MR. GRAHAM:  Nothing that would relieve the constraints that are put forward by the OPA, in terms of the zonal constraints, at least.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  Now, as I understand it, the OPA will conduct a transmission availability test before it signs any contracts with generators?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Have you done anything or can you describe what you have done to mitigate against the risk that there are transmission constraints for any projects in the first two years of your plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, in the end, the OPA, as you mentioned, in doing the contracts will only contract those projects that they feel can be taken given the transmission constraints that exist.

And we have looked at, in terms of developing our forecast of 3,500 megawatts by the end of 2011, those transmission constraints and the do-ability of the distribution connection forecast in that light.

So our forecast is based on consideration of those transmission constraints.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I think I understand that.

Moving to a slightly different topic, then, but still sticking with Issue 9.1, you updated your Green Energy Plan with respect to the Distribution System Code amendments that the Board made, related to cost sharing between distributors and generators, as I understand it.  But at the time of the filing of your updated plan, the final amendments had not been made.  These amendments were finalized on October 21st; am I correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Have you had a chance to compare your plan filing to the final amendments that were made to the DSC, to ensure that your assumptions regarding cost sharing are correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's been done.  I believe that the assumptions that we made on the update that was filed September 25th, which was based on the September 11th update from the Board with respect to the changes they were pursuing with respect to the DSC, accurately reflected the cost allocation.

MS. LEA:  Well, I wonder if we could just explore that briefly, please, at page 20 of your plan, and the next piece in the bundle I gave you is the actual Distribution System Code amendments, excerpts from there.

MR. GRAHAM:  I've got them both.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Page 20 of your plan, you talk about renewable enabling improvements, and you indicate that these REIs include the list of investments that follow.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  But the final amendments to the DSC in section 3.3.2 -- yes, 3.3.2 actually limits REIs to certain things.  So that the way it is described in the DSC is actually more restrictive, because it is limited to certain things.  And you have listed the REI investments include the following.

Is there anything in your plan -- because the distributor pays for REIs, you can receive funding from provincial ratepayers for these things.

Is there anything in the REIs in your plan that are no longer qualified as REIs because of the final Distribution System Code amendments?

MR. SALT:  No.  I went through these and they line up exactly.

What we've done is we've taken the -- or if you look at the Distribution System Code descriptions, you will see that the Hydro One has just grouped them.

For example, the first bullet on A-14-2, page 20, "Modifications or additions to managing control two-way electrical flows or reverse flows, e.g. bidirectional relays", if you cross-reference to the other one, you will see that that is point D on the DSC.

MS. LEA:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SALT:  The next one is tap changer controls, and you will see that is point E.  And so, similarly, they all line up.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So you are comfortable that you don't have to amend this filing any more for the recent Distribution System Code amendments?

MR. SALT:  My understanding of the A-14-2, our description, and the changes, they line up exactly.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And does that also apply to expansions on page 16?  Your list is longer of examples.  Your list of examples is longer than the eventual list that ended up as examples in the DSC.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  I recognize they're examples.

MR. SALT:  Again, I went through these and they do line up, except the last two bullets, and I just want to point this out.  For clarity, we added two more.

The first one is "building new express feeders to connect renewable energy generation", the second-last bullet in A-14-2, page 16, and that is not in the DSC amendments.  But it's really a special condition of the first bullet, which is "expand or build out the distribution system to ownership demarcation points".

We wanted to be clear that an express feeder was included there.  The second point or the last bullet is "providing new distribution stations and/or additional capacity at existing distribution stations."

Again, we added that for clarity, but it is really a subset of the sixth bullet, which says, "replacing a transformer with a larger MDA size".  That is kind of a simplification, because if you put in a larger power transformer, you may have to do some other work, such as increase bus size, you know, protection changes to -- you know, to handle that type of power flow.

So we were just trying to be very clear that that is what our understanding was.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you for having done that checking.

Also, the cost sharing provisions in the DSC apply only subsequent to or on or after October 21st, 2009.  There is nothing in your plan that assumes that a project before that date is going to be cost shared, if I can make a verb out of that?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  We're following the OEB's direction with respect to the date of change.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And just to clarify something that arose in a previous day, and this arises out of section 3.2.5(a) of the Distribution System Code.

With respect to expansions, if that expansion is in a Board-approved plan, the distributor pays for it; am I right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says, yes.

MS. LEA:  And the $90,000 per megawatt cap, in that circumstance, is not relevant?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's the way we understand it; correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I would like to then look at your plan in terms of the level of detail it provides of the actual projects that are included here, and please tell me if I need to ask another panel or, in this case, it would be Mr. Millar need to ask another panel.

You are asking the Board to approve the plan and the spending within it.  This includes, as you know, a determination of prudence of the plan.

In interrogatory H-9, schedule 52, you acknowledged that a finding of prudence needs to be made by the Board.

I guess my fundamental question is:  How much detail do you think the Board needs to make this assessment, and have you satisfied that need for detail?

Just to be clear, I am not suggesting that your plan is inaccurate, but I am suggesting that a regulator like the Board has to conduct a somewhat independent assessment of prudence, and the information that they need to conduct that assessment has to be on the record.

So can you just give me your understanding of the level of detail you think the Board needs to make that assessment, and whether you satisfied it?

MR. CURTIS:  Certainly.  What we have done - and maybe this has been explained hopefully earlier on in the proceeding - is that in our business planning process we were well under way in terms of developing our Green Energy Plan as part of all of the other work that we are planning to do.

And so the detail is contained within the entire application that we've made before the Board in terms of these rates.

Then what we did, following the Board's issued guidelines, was to create this section A-14-2 on our specific Green Energy Plan.  And what we've endeavoured to do is provide as much detail as we could within that document, but also making references to other sections of our filing to provide additional detail.

So we feel that, overall, we've provided the same level of information and detail for the green energy portion of our application as we have for all of the other portions of our rate application.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Page 9 of the Board's guidelines states that:
"The plan should include the specific investments the distributor intends to make and expenses it expects to incur at a level of detail sufficient for the Board to assess the need for the planned projects and activities and the benefits of undertaking the planned expenditures."

In your Green Energy Plan at page 20, for example, you've given examples of renewable enabling improvements.  You've talked about the purposes and benefits of renewable enabling improvements, in general, but there is actually no list of REIs in the plan and I am not sure there is a list of them elsewhere.

Do you see this as a -- as adequate detail?

MR. CURTIS:  I would suggest, Ms. Lea, that if you move to page 21 --

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. CURTIS:  -- and at the bottom there, it makes reference to the fact that the REI investments are detailed in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3.

MS. LEA:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. CURTIS:  So we have provided additional detail on the REI investments under that particular tab.

MS. LEA:  Hmm-hmm.  And this also we will be exploring in January, because you talk about the allocation of costs between all electricity consumers in Ontario and your own customers?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  At page 16 of your plan, you talk about having six express feeders in southwestern Ontario that will be built in 2011.

Various interrogatories sought more details, which we understand are unavailable.  Is there anywhere else in the evidence that the details about these express feeders appear?  For example, did you consider alternatives to them?  Why do you need six, or how do you know you need six?  How can this Board determine that you made the best choice?

Those sorts of questions are usually part of an assessment for prudence.


MR. SALT:  We looked at three locations, and what we were looking for was -- these are related to the enabler TSes, and we were looking for areas where we expected a lot of uptake on, or a lot of applications for connection to the distribution system where we did not have capacity, either distribution capacity or transmission capacity.

So there was three locations we looked at, and we have come up with a design for a transformer station and the, you know, the simplest design that would enable as much generation as possible.  And for that design we needed six 44 kV feeders.  And that's where those six came from.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

Is part of the reason why you don't have project-by-project detail available directly in the plan, that you don't have all the information you need regarding connections?  In other words, if you had all the information you need, would you have made this plan more detailed?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we could have made it more specific with respect to the actual locations, for example, of the projects to be connected.  I think Mr. Curtis has spoken at length over the last --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. GRAHAM:  -- couple of days with respect to our waiting for the FIT program to give us the complete information with respect to the exact location of those projects.

So that is a factor that goes to the inability to say that:  We're doing exactly this, there.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  I guess the other reason for asking that question is to ask you whether, in your view, a project-by-project prudence review by this Board is in fact a practical thing, a feasible thing to do with a distribution system -- with a Green Energy Plan such as the one that you will have to be implementing.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I -- I would like to start by making a particular observation, and then perhaps I can deal with your question generally.

My feeling -- and this is perhaps a personal opinion -- is that those projects that are expansions that are fundable within the $90,000 per megawatt, the Board has basically told us what the prudence test will be with respect to those.

So that if we can do -- we may need to do something in between filings with respect to responding to demand from customers for, say, a one-kilometre extension which would be less than $90,000 per megawatt.

I am assuming, but that needs to be clarified perhaps by the Board, that we would be expected to do that, given that it meets the Board's test of $90,000 -- within the $90,000-per-megawatt cap.

Generally speaking, with respect to the other projects, for example, we talked about the TS and the enabling feeders that would go along with it that Mr. Salt just testified about, it may be that the Board would like more information, but remains to be seen.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Madam Chair, I have two more areas of questioning which I anticipate will take less than 10 minutes.  Shall I proceed?  I'm sorry, I don't know what that clock is telling me.

[Laughter]

MS. LEA:  And I don't think it is my inability to read clocks.  I think it is about 10:17.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's what my watch says Ms. Lea, so, yes, why don't you go ahead?

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

I wonder, gentlemen, if we could turn to a completely different topic?  And this relates somewhat to Issue 9.5 on the Board's Issues List, and it relates to an answer you gave to a CCC interrogatory at H, 9, schedule 31.  I wonder if you could have -- have a look at that for a moment.

In that interrogatory, which is H, tab 9, schedule 31, the third question was:

"Will the funds received through the external funding mechanism be treated as 'contributed capital'?"

And I was somewhat intrigued by that suggestion.  Your answer seems to imply that the Regulation 330 doesn't permit that.  But perhaps you could clarify whether you have considered this approach and your opinion of it.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I believe we looked at the potential of having, essentially, this paid for upfront, if you will, as opposed to paid for over time.  I think that is the fundamental difference.

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think our concern was that these assets have value over time, as opposed to upfront.  And that, further, we are still talking about ratepayer-funded costs, so that to, if you will, reflect the fact that ratepayers get that benefit over time and to avoid rate shock, we determined it would be more appropriate, from our point of view, to have that paid for over the period of the 20-year contract, as opposed to paid for in a lump sum at the start of the investment.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

So it's your view that it is -- it is wiser to spread that rate burden out over a period of time?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sure that will be discussed further in January, but that's the proposition that is here, yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

My last set of questions relates to interrogatory H, tab 9, schedule 52, and also Issue 9.5 on the list.

At Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 52, you set out your perspective on Issue 9.5 on the Issues List, and just for the record, that issue reads:

"What is the Board's role with respect to the approval of the Green Energy Plan?"

The issue also asks about criteria and impacts of approval.

I wanted to ask you about the last thing, impacts of approval. In thinking about the consequences of approval of this plan, I could identify four, and perhaps you can see if you agree with these and then add any more that I may have omitted.  The first, of course, is you're seeking approval of amounts to be collected in your rates.  That's one consequence.


MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MS. LEA:  Also the approval of a plan is, as we've pointed out, a trigger for you as a distributor to pay for expansions under Section 3.2.5(a) of the Distribution System Code, and possibly recover these costs through the provincial recovery mechanism.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  And indeed, approval of the amounts to be collected through the provincial recovery mechanism is one of the things you're seeking through a plan approval?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's right.

MS. LEA:  The fourth consequence of plan approval -- and I've excerpted Section 70 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 72.1 specifically, in case you need to refer to it -- that piece of legislation creates a requirement to bill in accordance with the plan.  So Section 70, 2.1, number 3 said:

"The licensee is required in accordance with the plan referred to in paragraph 2 that has been approved by the Board, to expand or reinforce its transmission or distribution system to accommodate the connection of renewable energy generation facilities."

I am excerpting part of that requirement.

Would you agree that that's a consequence of the approval of the plan by the Board?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so, yes.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  Is this a concern for Hydro One in producing a specific plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  I guess, from our point of view, it's difficult to know what the alternative is.

Basically, the -- the need to enact the government's policy direction, if you will, in our understanding means that we need to move forward and -- and make those connections that are appropriate according to the Board.

And thus we've filed a plan that puts us in a position to do so, once we have the information that allows us to go forward on those.

For the Board not to approve it or to delay approval or to implement some other process will, I guess, from our point of view, delay the enactment of those projects.

MS. LEA:  I guess my question also went to the -- I was wondering whether, as a distributor, you would hesitate to list specific projects in a Green Energy Plan if you knew you were going to have to build those ones?  And it is not clear to me whether the legislation would allow you to vary from the projects that you had put forward in a Green Energy Plan.

I'm not -- I don't have an opinion on it.  I am asking your view.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yeah.  That is not something I think we really considered.  It is a good question.

At this point, we're not able to, again, identify the specific locations, so it really did not come up.

Where we, say, have listed a project and it turns out that that project is not feasible for some reason, I guess we're presuming that we would not be expected to expend funds on things that are not, in the Board's determination, used and useful, but that's a presumption.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.  Okay.  I think I understand your views on that.

Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Mr. Rogers, do you have much of a redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  None.

MS. NOWINA:  You have none?  That makes it quick.  Mr. Sommerville, do you have any questions?
Questions from the Board:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yeah.  One of the things that interests me is the acuity of the plan, that is how precise this plan is and the extent to which it conforms with the Board guidelines and -- and actually represents forecasts that are substantial enough for us to give credence to.

And part of that has to do with the extent to which -- what you have said, I think, is that once you get proponents who have signed contracts with OPA, that that really represents the -- that's the starting gate.  That's when you really start to develop those particular connections associated with those contracts?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I guess there's been some discussion about the timing around the production of a connection impact assessment and the execution of a cost recovery agreement, but it is that OPA contract that really is the marching order.  Is that how you see it?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair in 95-percent-plus of the cases, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, to what extent is that OPA contracting process informed by your expectations of the specific costs associated with connecting that particular proponent?

And it is a particular assessment, is it not?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would suggest that only in one regard, in that they are supposed to look at distributor plans which have been, if you will, approved by the Board in terms of determining which generators can go forward; for example, in this case, that would connect to the distribution system.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  So the distributor's plans would be information that the OPA would need to consider in terms of determining which projects would be contracted.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there some circularity in that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it is an interactive -- yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When the OPA actually signs a contract and you are expecting, I think -- what was the time frame that you expect the first contracts to be executed?

MR. GRAHAM:  Other than potentially some micro FIT contracts which might occur this month, I think it is the first part of next year.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So January of 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is up to the OPA.  I think they're hoping January/February they will be issuing significant numbers of contracts, but, again, it is in their hands.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  And my question really is a fairly pragmatic one, and it is the extent to which OPA is specifically informed on a proponent-by-proponent basis about the costs associated with connecting that proponent.

What is the --

MR. GRAHAM:  I do not believe that we would go to them and say, This is going to cost this, this is going to cost that.  We would do an allocation, for example, of one project over a number of proponents to say each proponent shares this, except for transmission projects where they're, for example, considered enablers, where the Board's guidelines with respect to recovery of those costs would require that to be done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So would it be fair to say that in most instances the OPA contracting exercise is not specifically informed by your costing estimate related to that specific project?

MR. GRAHAM:  If I understand your question, not specifically.  It is certainly -- we have this interchange with the Board with respect to whether certain things should be approved in terms of expenditures and parameters, and we would expect to follow that approval with respect to what we do go forward and do.

But we would not say that this extension, for example, or expansion is $50,000 per megawatt, for example.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me put it -- give you an example.  If OPA executed a contract with proponent A and you found -- when you got that contract and you said, Well, now we've got a contract, we're going to proceed.

And you discovered that the costs associated with connecting that proponent were extremely significant.  What is your response?

MR. GRAHAM:  My response right now -- and I will caveat this is my personal -- I believe this is the company's position, but I will caveat it that way, that if it required more than $90,000 per megawatt of investment and it was not in our plan, unless the generator was prepared to pay the difference between the $90,000 and the actual costs, then we would not go forward and do it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  So I understand that answer.

Now, when you say "if it's not in our plan", which specific projects are in your plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  The ones that are over the $90,000 per megawatt are simply the enabling TSes that Mr. Salt talked about.  So the feeders from enabling TSes I think run about $145,000 per megawatt, because we feel that's the best way to get large amounts of new generation on to the system.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You've -- with respect, I don't think you quite answered my question.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Which specific projects are in your plan, not category of projects that would conform to the $90,000 per megawatt criteria, but which specific projects are in your plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  And that's a good question.  There is no specific "this TS is going to be built and these feeders are going to be built" plan right now, in terms of what is in front of the Board.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.  The other question I have relates to sort of ancillary costs associated with these connections.

I think, Mr. Salt, you indicated - I think it was in your testimony - something to the effect that, What we might find is when we make a connection for a particular generator, we may find that there are ancillary costs or associated costs that may be upstream or downstream from that particular connection.

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That there may be necessary upgrades up and down the line.

Now, when you characterized those costs, first of all, are they part of the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Not if they're borne by others.  It would only be the ones borne by Hydro One.

At this point, we're not assuming that there would be any projects for connection to, say, an embedded LDC that we serve, that there would be any costs to Hydro One reflected from that.

They would need to be borne by the generator, according to the Board's guidance, which is that if there is upstream costs to be incurred, they're to be paid for by the generator as opposed to by the distributor.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand that.  This is sort of the architecture of the Transmission System Code, to some extent, that apportion those costs according to sort of causation.

So what you are suggesting is that with respect to these consequential costs associated with these -- the connections of these proponents, that those would be costs that will go back to the generator, and these are not costs that are part of the Green Energy Plan to be either apportioned to the -- to your specific franchise ratepayer or to the provincial ratepayer?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly, again, if I can clarify, I think this is what you're asking, but if it's a connection to an LDC that is served by our distribution or by our transmission, those upstream costs would be the responsibility of the generator, not the responsibility of the ratepayer, if that's the question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Does your Green Energy Plan segregate those costs in any way, or are they simply outside of the plan and to be negotiated as part of that cost recovery arrangement with the generator?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there is an estimate, but I think it is largely based on the cost of connection with respect to generator-funded costs.

The actual costs to be incurred would be what the generator is willing to bear as per negotiations you referred to.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's what I'm getting at.  That's where the CCRA becomes very live --

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- when you are talking about those consequential costs, and those are costs that the generator is going to have to chin sooner or later?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, does that give you some pause about the -- I mean, I think what you have suggested, and I may be oversimplifying this, is that the RESOP program really provided you with a dry run for the connections that you anticipate?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that because the tolls associated with the Green Energy Act have increased substantially, that those projects under the RESOP program that we're halting will in fact go forward?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's our presumption, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Does that build into the equation these ancillary costs that the generator may be asked to cover solely?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, what we're looking at here is generally connections to our system, which generally - not always, but generally - is connected to our transmission system.  So we would be in a position to assess the overall costs of connection, and say that we -- so, basically, as I understand it, what we've assumed here, the generator funding and the ratepayer funding, it is appropriate to do the connections that we've forecast.

So there is no need to -- based on our assessment, for additional costs over and above what we've already assumed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  And are all of those ancillary costs fully understood within the context of the RESOP examination that you conducted?

I know that that was suspended in May of 2008, so have there been CIAs processed since then?

MR. GRAHAM:  We have processed basically all of the CI applications that have come in since.  Essentially -- and I can't remember the date, but the date at which the OPA said that, Post this date, if you apply for a CIA, you can't apply for a FIT contract.  We haven't really seen many CIA applications until then, but until that point by were seeing them and we were processing them.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would those assessments identify, with particularity, those downstream costs or upstream costs?

MR. GRAHAM:  They would identify it, because, for example, if we had a situation where it was an embedded LDC and there was a Hydro One component of those costs, the CIAs delivered to the generator would, in the end, identify all of the costs, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What about the production of system impact assessments?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, my understanding is that the IESO - and we did have a fair bit of back and forth with them on this - in the end has determined that if a single generator is less than 10 megawatts, they don't need an SIA and they are sufficiently covered with respect to what is being done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So for those projects that fall into that category, no SIA would be required?


MR. GRAHAM:  Right, so that --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the idea?

MR. GRAHAM:  -- the RESOP projects, generally speaking, they're saying that wasn't required.  So it is possible, just to add to that, that we could see larger projects trying to connect to the distribution system in the future than were under RESOP.  RESOP was the 10-megawatt limit.

If that happened, if they're above 10 megawatts, my understanding is an SIA would be required, even though they're distribution connected.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am sorry to be so long in these questions.  They're just --


MR. GRAHAM:  That's fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  They occurred to me in the course of the evidence, and I think it is a good idea to try to resolve them.

The other thing I noticed in your evidence was that you had actually ruled out a number of projects under the RESOP program, for a variety of reasons.  The circuits weren't appropriate.  There was no genuine capacity at the proposed connection point to accommodate the RESOP contract.

In fact, a substantial number of the contracts that are listed in that particular hard-to-read exhibit, it lists a number of those projects.

Many of those were basically disqualified --

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- because of their technical characteristics.  And I take it that part of the -- the idea here is that these programs, these proposals will now go forward, notwithstanding that the technical constraints or technical limitations that you identified during the RESOP program, you are going to overcome them in this go-round?

MR. GRAHAM:  If they can be overcome for the funding levels that the Board has put forward, so for example, if an expansion would now allow a project to connect that was previously beyond the thresholds, and that expansion could be done for less than 90,000, yes, it would be in the plan.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  That is helpful.

Thank you very much.

MR. GRAHAM:  All right.

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I just have a few questions to follow on with respect to the express feeders.  So if I understand the evidence correctly, your Green Energy Plan essentially will include one set of six express feeders to one enabling TS.  Is that essentially what you are asking for approval of?

MR. SALT:  Yes, yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's, just to be precise, that's in the first two years.  There is one TS.  There is subsequent TSes in the latter three years, but we already talked to -- we will be coming back with respect to those.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So if we stay within the first two years, it is one.

And you have looked at three potential sites for this to happen?  You said you looked at three --


MR. SALT:  Yes.


MR. CHAPLIN:  -- potential enabling TSs with --


MR. SALT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Am I correct that in all three of those cases, you've estimated that the sort of effective cost is this 145,000 per megawatt?

MR. SALT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And this is just following on from Mr. Sommerville's questions about the interaction between OPA's selection of where to contract and your provision of information to them about your plan and the relative costs.

So would your understanding be that as long as one of those three areas goes forward, and the cost does, in fact -- as you do your more detailed assessments -- does fall within the 145,000 per megawatt, that you would feel that, therefore, you were operating within the plan and that you had operated within an approval, assuming it is approved?


MR. GRAHAM:  That would be our assumption, yes.  This would be part of the Board plan.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, if the OPA were -- if there were to be a suite of contracts for a cluster of renewable generators that would require the same type of thing, an express feeder system, but it is not within one of the three and it is significantly more expensive, or in addition, or let's say there is enough to go forward for a second set.

So I guess there is sort of two scenarios.  One, a second set of express feeders.  Or two, one in an area you hadn't really considered and is significantly more than the $145,000 per megawatt, what is your -- how do you interpret -- how would you interpret a Board approval of the plan?  How would you deal with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  My personal assumption is that if there is more than one project that would be required to satisfy the demand, as your second scenario first -- sorry, that we would say only one project is in the plan, and that we would need some additional leave, if you will, from the Board to do the second project.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Or perhaps contribution from the generators?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, that's the case if it turns out to be more than 145,000 per megawatt to do the feeders, if it is significantly more than that, I think we would potentially say that it was only approved at 145,000, so you would need to come up with more money.

I'm speculating when I say this, but I would say that the Board's approval goes around the 240 megawatts at $145,000 per megawatt, one station.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  That is the way I interpret it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, panel.  I don't have any questions after those thorough questions.

We'll -- we will take our break now.  Before we do, I would like to comment that we do have to break for certain for lunch at 12:00 o'clock, so we will probably only have about an hour for the initial examination of panel 2.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  I plan to be -- just so you know, Madam Chair -- with your permission, briefly with them in-chief, 10 minutes probably.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  Fifteen minutes, perhaps.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, panel.  You are dismissed.

And after the break, we will start with panel 2.

--- Recess taken at 10:41 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:06 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Rogers, would you like to introduce your panel?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Sitting in the witness panel now is Mr. Greg Van Dusen and Mr. Sandy Struthers.  I wonder if they could be sworn, and then I will qualify them.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2, POLICY AND PROGRESS


Alexander (Sandy) Struthers, Sworn


Greg Van Dusen, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Struthers, I understand that a copy of your curriculum vitae has been filed at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 13.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is.  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  You, sir, hold a bachelor of commerce degree and a master of business administration degree.

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You are also, I believe, a chartered accountant and a member of the Canadian Institute -- I'm sorry, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  As well, have qualification as a chartered business valuator?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career, I see, in the private accounting profession?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I did.

MR. ROGERS:  Where you worked for a number of years.  And joined Hydro One in the year 2000?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I did.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked in various positions within the company set out in your curriculum vitae, and now hold the position of senior vice president and chief financial officer?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Van Dusen, you have appeared before this Board on a number of other occasions, I know?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  As has Mr. Struthers, your colleague?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is set out at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 15.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, Mr. Van Dusen, I understand that you hold an honours BA in mathematics?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And, as well, a master's of business administration degree from York University?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked with Ontario Hydro and its successor companies for many years, beginning back in about 1981?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  And over the course of your career, you have worked in a succession of increasingly responsible positions, usually dealing with finance, I see?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  You presently hold the position of director of regulation, distribution applications and regulatory affairs with the company?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  I wonder, Mr. Van Dusen, if you could just tell us, please, which area of the evidence or areas of the evidence this panel will be dealing with?  And, for the record, I can state that it is set out at Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1, page 3 and 4.  But just very briefly, can you outline for us the areas in which you will be entertaining questions?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.

Mr. Struthers and I will be dealing with the areas, broadly speaking, of corporate strategy, revenue requirement, customer impacts and business planning process.

The other material that we will be discussing are subsumed under most of those categories, but we will also be dealing with the confidential filings, particularly with respect to the business planning process.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Now, in your position as director of distribution applications, can you confirm for the Board that the information filed in this case, in all respects, is, to the best of your belief, an accurate and fair reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

Now, I do have some questions to put to you in-chief, if I might, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Probably these are best addressed to you, Mr. Struthers.

During the course of the hearing so far, not surprisingly, questions have been asked about the rate increase and whether or not Hydro One has taken appropriate steps to ensure that that is -- that increase being asked for is as low as reasonably possible, given the tough economic times that we're in.

Can you please assist us with the steps or the thinking that's gone into this application in that respect?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I can.  In developing the business plan and developing material that went into this rate filing, we spent a lot of time looking at our systems, the work that had to be done, understanding the impacts on rates and understanding the impacts to our customers.  We are very aware of the rate increases, particularly at this time in this economic cycle.

We understand we have to do certain work in order to ensure that we have a reliable system.  We also understand that, to the extent that we could or would be able to defer work, we would have done so.

We believe that the work that we are putting forward here is work that is necessary.  We don't believe that delaying it will be economically beneficial to our customers.  We believe that costs will increase, and we believe that this is probably the best time to do that work from the perspective of actually getting the work done and ensuring that it is done in the most cost-effective manner for our customers.

I will restate we are very aware of the impacts on our customers, and it is a consideration our board of directors takes very carefully.

MR. ROGERS:  How about the Green Energy Plan?  How does that fit into your thinking about the timeliness of the work you have to undertake?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The Green Energy Plan is obviously something that we are being directed to undertake.  We certainly have a letter from our shareholder, the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure, with respect to his thinking about what he wants us to undertake, and we have taken that into consideration in this particular filing.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you, sir.  I am sure we will have questions from people about that, I think.

A second line of enquiry that's been pursued this in case, not surprisingly, once again, dealing more or less with the same topic, is the amount of scrutiny or consideration that your board of directors has given to the proposed rate increase and the impacts that those rate increases, if approved, will have on your customers.

Can you help the Board understand the consideration that was given by your board of directors about this application and the impacts on its customers?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I can.

I personally presented to the board on two occasions, the first time being the actual business plan, and subsequently I also presented the budget to the board.

Of consideration, and I would say substantial debate and probably most of the discussion on the business plan centered on the impacts to customers, what those rate increases would look like.

The Board is, as I say, very aware of it.  Management is also very aware of the rate increases.  If you look at our balance score card, one of those items in our balance score card is customer satisfaction.  We are very aware the impacts of rates on customer satisfaction.

We also understand, however, that we are required to provide a reliable system and to improve the quality of the distribution system.  So we are trying to balance those.  The Board understands that balance.  As I say, the Board spent a lot of time talking about the impacts on rates and wanted to be absolutely sure that the work that we were undertaking was necessary.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Struthers.

Finally, I am going to come to a topic that I don't think, strictly speaking, is even on your list of issues, but it has come up and I have undertaken to the Board to ask you about this.

That has to do with the company's proposal that the green energy costs are to be recovered, or hopefully be recovered, through this rate application in the usual way.

There's been some question about whether or not an alternative approach of a variance account, coupled with a rate adder, might be more appropriate.

Could you comment, please, on the reasons the company has for proposing what it is presently proposing - that is to say, I would say, traditional rate treatment of these costs - and the alternative of a variance account, coupled with a rate rider -- a rate adder, sorry?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Let me talk about why we included the requirement in our rates.

It's important for us financially to be able to undertake the Green Energy Act, and to be able to do that there are going to be additional financial pressures on the company with respect to a large capital build.

It is important to us that we have the cash flow funding to be able to undertake that work.

We are balancing our debt-equity ratios as we go forward in order to ensure that we manage to the regulated debt-equity ratio.  We are undertaking certain items to be able to do that, particularly with respect to dividends.

But it is important for us that we do have the necessary funding and the necessary certainty around that funding in able -- in order to be able to do the work.

Very much, we are looking at the process now of being, if we're paid to do the work we will undertake the work.  As I say, the times are much tighter than they used to be.  We are certainly aware of the economics, and we are certainly aware of issues with respect to raising debt in the market.

With respect to a rate adder and a variance account, certainly to the extent that they would deliver on those requirements, providing us the cash in order to be able to undertake the work that we need to do, and then adjusting for it, but with some certainty that we will get the funding, we would certainly be willing to look at that.  I think that would -- that would make sense.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Do the intervenors have a first-up?  Is that you, Mr. Warren?

MR. ROGERS:  Before my friends begin -- I'm sorry, I should have raised this with the Panel.  I don't think I have yet.  There may be some in camera session required with this panel.

MS. NOWINA:  There may.

MR. ROGERS:  The proposal is -- and I've talked to Mr. Millar about it and I think everyone is in agreement -- that with we will proceed with the public discourse first.  Hopefully, the amount of the in camera session will be reduced or eliminated, and we will do that at the end, with your approval.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's fine.  That was my understanding, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Warren, did you want to start?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  May I just ask through you, panel, to Mr. Rogers, if I have a question, I didn't intend to cover any of the confidential materials, but I wanted -- an observation Mr. Struthers made in examination-in-chief prompts me to want to refer him to one of the confidential exhibits, but no numbers in it.  May I do that now, rather than waiting for the end of the day?

The alternative is I can give it to Mr. DeRose and he can ask the question.  Whatever the preference is.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Warren is an experienced counsel, and understands the concern my client has, I think.  He was able to navigate with panel 1 without referring to specific documents.  I would hope he could do the same here.  Could you -- if he could ask the questions without -- staying away from any future figures, I think we can probably proceed on that basis.

And Mr. Struthers will let us know if he is uncomfortable answering.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I will do that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Struthers, my apologies.  I would like you to turn up, please, Exhibit H, tab 9 schedule 44.

This is a response to an interrogatory from my client, the Consumers Council of Canada, and there are two components to it, Mr. Struthers.  These are materials that were presented to the regulatory, I guess, subcommittee of the board of directors.  And one was in June and one was in April, and I am looking at the June materials.

I will get to that in a moment.  It is a bit hard to find.

In the June materials there is a document, a slide document called "Facilitating implementation of Green Energy projects" dated June 17th, 2009.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that attachment 4, I believe?

MR. WARREN:  I believe it is.

And then there is a memorandum from Susan Frank to the board of directors itself.  And then attached to that there is a slide presentation which is called "Hydro One Inc. 2010-2012 business plan" dated June 17th, 2009.  It is the business plan I want to take you to, if you wouldn't mind.

It looks like that.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yeah, I believe that actually may be my document that you are referring to.

MR. WARREN:  All the better, then, Mr. Struthers.  The business plan, I want to take you to page 5 of the business plan, which is headed "Strategic objectives".

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren.  This is part of H-9, schedule 4?

MR. WARREN:  It is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But is it part of attachment --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I believe he's actually referring to H-13-1, which is another of the confidential files.


MR. WARREN:  I've run them all together.  My fault.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Which is referring to attachment 3 to that filing, Madam.

MR. WARREN:  It is H-13-1, attachment 3.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I got it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Struthers, I am looking at the strategic objectives, and there are some eight or nine of them.

And when I look at this document generally, but in particular, when I look at the strategic objectives, I was struck by your observation this morning in response to examination in-chief, about how customer impacts and rate impacts were top of mind for the board of directors and the management as they went through your planning.

And when I look at the strategic objectives, indeed when I look through this entire document, I do not see a single reference to the impact of rate increases on customers.  Am I right about that, Mr. Struthers?

MR. STRUTHERS:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Where do I find it, Mr. Struthers?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The -- if you look at the second point on that slide, where it says "satisfying our customers," we do take our customers very seriously, and we understand the rate impacts on them and we understand the impact of rates on their satisfaction levels.

MR. WARREN:  So rather than rate impacts, I take this general phrase, "satisfying our customers."  Now, where else would I find, in this document -- I don't want to deal with numbers at all -- but where there have been reductions, for example, in capital spending or deferment of capital spending in order to keep the rates down, where would I find it in this document?

MR. STRUTHERS:  If you were to refer to page 20 of that same document, you will see that there is an explanation on satisfying our customers there, talking about the current customer status, the challenges and opportunities, and the initiatives that we're undertaking in order to improve customer satisfaction levels.

MR. WARREN:  And the reduction in rates, the reduction in spending in order to keep rates down, where would I find it on that page?

MR. STRUTHERS:  In fact, if you were to even look at page 21, it talks about continuous innovation, productivity improvements, key initiatives, so we are undertaking various initiatives in order to address increases in costs.

MR. WARREN:  Is there anything in here about deferring or eliminating capital spending?  For example, in order to keep rates low; anything in here at all?

MR. STRUTHERS:  You have to recall that the business plan was put together with the understanding that the work that we needed to do was the work that we needed to do.

When we went forward with this plan, we clearly understood the work that we needed to do.  That's reflected in the business plan, and therefore the rates that are here.  We have deferred the work that we don't need to do.

MR. WARREN:  Where would I find in the evidence, anywhere, a list of the work that's been deferred in order to keep rates low?   Would I find it anywhere in the evidence, sir?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  There is nothing specific in the material that's provided to you.  We go through a process that looks at the work that needs to be done, and that dictates the work and therefore the business requirements.  That's how we arrive at our budget, and therefore the requirement for funding the work that needs to be done.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, in Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 44 -- and Ms. Chaplin, this is in fact H-9-44, I'm sorry.  This is the April confidential filing.  This is Ms. Frank's submission to the regulatory and environment committee of the board of directors.  And I am looking at page 2 of that document.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have it.

MR. WARREN:  I am looking at page 2.  I look at the bottom paragraph on page 2, where it says:

"Recognizing that the OEB, Hydro One and other industry players have limited resources, the company has also identified to the OEB a number of opportunities to defer lower --"
Sorry, I apologize.
"-- defer other lower-priority initiatives in favour of the Green Energy Initiatives.  OEB initiatives that Hydro One proposed the OEB should defer include the requirement to eliminate long-term load transfers, the development of new distribution rate design, and the development of new filing requirements."

Now, can you tell me what the dollar impact of those deferrals has been?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Perhaps I can ask Mr. Van Dusen to answer that question for you.

MR. WARREN:  Of course.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The three items that are referred to there, the long-term load transfer is a situation where there are potentially the need to move assets from either our utility to another utility, or from that utility to Hydro One, to eliminate some assets which are shared.  That's a relatively -- relatively small initiative that was -- that is being actually championed by the board itself.

The development of new distribution rate design, you will hear more from panel 5 on the distribution rate design and the distribution cost allocation process that the company went through.

This is really working with the OEB and making sure we're consistent with the direction and guidance from the OEB in terms of the rate design criteria.

And the developing of new filing requirements is just Hydro One's ongoing effort to ensure that we can put in front of this Board the best available information to help them be able to make the decisions that they need to make about the filing.

So the increased evidentiary basis that we have here, the increased stakeholdering that we go through are all examples of these items.  It is a little bit difficult to put a direct dollar figure on those, but that is the initiatives and that's why they were undertaken.

MR. WARREN:  Would it be fair for me to conclude, Mr. Van Dusen - please correct me if I am wrong - that the impact on rates of those initiatives would be de minimus, essentially nothing in comparison to the capital expenditure, for example, that you propose in 2010, 2011?  Is that a fair conclusion on my part?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  However, as Mr. Struthers indicated, throughout the business planning process we take a look at the projects and when the projects are scheduled, and we take a look at the need of the projects and whether they can be deferred or delayed, whether they're absolutely necessary.

So the initial plans, which we talk about being developed through our business planning process, did have higher levels of expenditures initially in them.

And through the business planning process and the risk-based prioritization process, as well as many discussions with the senior management team, projects were over the process delayed and deferred, and what you see in front of you that went to our board of directors, and then made itself into the distribution rate filing, is the ultimate decision made by the company.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Van Dusen.  There is a mountain of evidence which I have tried to work through, but I can't -- I wouldn't pretend to say that I have got an encyclopaedic memory of all of it.  Can you point me to where in the evidence I would find a dollar figure that was associated with those deferrals in the planning process?

I am trying to get a handle on what exactly the board of directors did to try to mitigate the rate impact to the customers.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, sir.  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, if I could direct you to the response to H, tab 7, schedule 39?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In this question, there were questions about the risk-based prioritization process, and there were questions about the minimum level of capital spending and the minimum level of OM&A spending for distribution in the test years.

As we have talked about in previous proceedings, what this talks about is the amount of dollars which are filed which Hydro One deems is the appropriate level required to ensure the safety and reliability of the system, and then there were questions about the minimum level and what the minimum level represents, and how it helps guide our decision making.

If we had developed this table at the beginning of the process, there would have been another column on the left-hand side which would have said -- represented something which, in our nomenclature, we call the asset needs, which is the beginning of the process, which is:  What do we initially -- if we had no constraints and we had nothing which was barring us, what would be the highest amount of work, or what would be the appropriate level of work that we would have recommended to come forward?

Through the process, business planning process, we apply appropriate constraints, and one of those appropriate constraints is customer impact and rate increases.

MR. WARREN:  Can we just stay with this topic, if we can, for a moment?  The numbers which are now in the record, Mr. Van Dusen and Mr. Struthers, are the following - and you will correct me if I am wrong - that the capital spending for what you are seeking approval in this case, the actual capital spending in 2010, is, rounding it slightly, $716 million and in 2011 is $839 million.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, could you say again, please?

MR. WARREN:  In 2010, the actual capital spending is $716 million and in 2011 is $839 million.  That's the actual capital spending.

Now, of that, Mr. Struthers --

MR. ROGERS:  Can we just wait a moment, Madam Chair, while the witnesses get the documents and verify the numbers?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think I understand where you are getting the numbers from.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we clarify that for the record so we all know where the numbers came from?

MR. WARREN:  I put it to the first panel, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  The total spending from that chart?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I could be helpful, Madam Chair, if you take a look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, which is the summary of the net distribution capital expenditures, I think what Mr. Warren is doing is then adding to that the expenditures under the Green Energy Plan.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  It includes, Mr. Struthers, portions that would be recoverable from folks other than your ratepayers, but it is the total capital spending for which you are seeking approval in this case.

The capital spending for which you are seeking recovery in this case, so there is a point of comparison, is $564 million in 2010 and $576 million in 2011.

Now, Mr. Thompson yesterday took you at some length through the factors that would affect rate impacts.  The distribution rate impact in 2010, 2011 -- and if you need a point of reference for this, panel, it is Exhibit H, tab 9, schedule 41.  It is an interrogatory of my client.

The distribution rate impact in 2010 ranges from 2 to 40 percent, and in 2011 it is 12 to 29 percent.

Now, of that, the total bill impact, referring to the same exhibit, is in 2010 anywhere from minus 1 percent to 9 percent, and, in 2011, 4 percent to 10 percent.

Now, Mr. Struthers and Mr. Van Dusen, can you and I agree that to those impacts will be added, in some fashion, that portion of the spending from Hydro One that will be recovered using some other mechanisms?  Your Hydro One customers will pay a portion of the additional spending; fair enough?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would expect our customers to pay what the Board would approve, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  And to that -- and I don't want to deal with any numbers.  I can deal with it, if you wish, as a hypothetical.  To that will be added whatever impacts, whatever they are, of any transmission rate increases or decreases, for that matter, that might come forward in your forthcoming application; fair enough?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree that the customers would pay what the Board approved.

MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me, sir, that however it all comes out in the wash, and whatever the number is, that to these rate increases will be added some component of what's referred to as the global adjustment; fair enough?

MR. STRUTHERS:  As I understand it, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And in addition to that, there is the ominous sounding special purpose charge to be levied under Section 79.1 of the Act.  That is another component that will be leveraged on ratepayers, including Hydro One's ratepayers; fair enough?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not aware of that particular section, but if -- I believe you are probably correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And then there is the prospect, which is outside of the purview of this Board, the harmonized sales tax increase, if it is approved, ultimately.  That will be coming down the pike at some point; fair enough?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I am wondering, Mr. Struthers, when the board, your board, was considering the impact of this application, if it took into consideration those additional factors beyond the pure rates for which you are seeking recovery in this application?

Did it consider the cumulative effect of all of those factors on its customers?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Board considered the impact on its customers of distribution and transmission tariffs.


MR. WARREN:  Did it consider the other factors, for example, the global adjustment and the amount that was to be recovered using these other mechanisms?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It did not specifically, no.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Is it -- was it capable of doing that calculation, sir?  Surely it was; would you not agree?

MR. STRUTHERS:  You -- the issue you would have is you would be speculating as to what those numbers would be.  The board focussed on what the transmission and distribution rate increases could potentially be to customers, and the impact to customers as a result.

MR. WARREN:  Now, just in this context, sir, I have asked -- I have put before you and your counsel, and I would ask if Mr. Millar would put before the Board, a selection of -- and these are, I can assure you, randomly selected from the 141 letters of comment and e-mails which are posted on the Board's website.


MR. ROGERS:  I wonder if my friend could just define "randomly selected" for me.  Every fifth e-mail?

MR. WARREN:  It wasn't even that scientific, sir.  I really just flipped through them and took them out.  And to the extent that I edited them, I took out some of the more personalized and incendiary of the observations.

MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit K3.5 and it is a sample of the letters from -- the letters of comment in this proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.5:  Sample of letters of comment in this proceeding.

MR. WARREN:  Provided by the principle of tender ministrations, Mr. Rogers.

Panel, there is no magic to this selection of letters, but I just -- I wanted to read to you a couple of them, sir.  And one of them is from Gordon and Shirley Hanson, who live on Waldorf (sic) Bay Road in Waldorf (sic), Ontario -- Waldhof, Ontario, I apologize.  And I confess I haven't the foggiest idea where that happens to be.

But it says:

"We've just discovered that Hydro One is again asking for an increase in rates for the years 2010 and 2011.  We don't know if it is a function of poor management or what but these unseemly raises in rate are unconscionable.  We retired in 1989 and are now in our 80s living on a fixed income.  Every time Hydro raises their rates our standard of living declines.  In 1989 we upgraded our home and Hydro talked us into electric heat, which was competitive at that time.  Now our rates are going through the roof.  We do our best to conserve electricity - fluorescent lighting, et cetera and turning down our heat.  It seems like each time we put more conservative measures in place, our charges go up.
"This has to stop - there has to be a limit put on Hydro to control their spending - we consumers cannot bear the costs of their operation."

And so on and so forth.

If I then go over a couple of pages to a letter from somebody named Rohan, and it is Rohan Hasfal, who lives on Brookehaven Crescent in Orangeville, addressed to the Board Secretary, dated September 15th.

MR. ROGERS:  Just give me a moment to find it, please.

MR. WARREN:  It is about three pages in.

MR. ROGERS:  Does the panel have it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we do.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we do.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I wasn't joking, panel, when I said I wanted to -- I want to eliminate the more incendiary and personalized comments in here, and speak, if I can, just to elicit from these, something of the human impact in these.

He begins by saying:

"I am sending you this e-mail to express both my disappointment and anger at the request of Hydro One Networks for an increase of 9.5 percent in 2010 and 13.3 percent in 2011 in the delivery portion of our electricity bill."

He then goes down, a couple of paragraphs, and he says:

"I recently got a pay increase.  My increase was 2.5 percent each year for the next three years.  It is beyond me how out of touch Hydro One Networks is.
"My question to you and the persons responsible for making the decisions regarding whether to approve or disapprove Hydro One's request for such large increases in the coming years, what has Hydro One done to warrant this request for these increases in delivery charges."

Now, those are two of the letters, and if you take the time to read -- have you taken the time, Mr. Struthers, to read the 141 letters of comment on the Board's website?

MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I have not.

MR. WARREN:  Well, they express -- subject to check and to what your counsel says -- they express a certain level of anger and frustration from the people who write the letters about the rate increases.

And I assume that that level of -- some level of anger and frustration wouldn't come as a surprise to Hydro One, given that these rate impacts were, according to you, top of mind in all of your deliberations, right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I am aware of the general nature of the comments in the material that's been submitted, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Again, go back to my question, sir, that in light of that sensitivity, why the board, your board, wouldn't have taken the trouble to calculate the overall cumulative effect on its ratepayers of all of the various charges, including one that comes from your own capital spending, that portion which is to be recovered by another way.  Why wouldn't you have done that calculation, sir?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The board, in discussions, understands the magnitude of the increases and understands the magnitude of the increases on its customers.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Warren, if I could help you, as well, if we could turn to H-13-2, and page 8 of that response, we were actually asked to provide an estimate of the amount that was going to be externally funded, how much of that would be attributable to Hydro One customers.  And that information is outlined in the response to question H, and it appears on page 8 of 8.

It shows that approximately, of the $8 million in 2010, approximately 2 million were the share for Hydro One customers, and 7.7 of the 30.7 in 2011, and rate increases and bill impact are shown there.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate you filed that, Mr. Van Dusen, in response to an interrogatory request.  My question was before that, in the planning, why Hydro One hadn't taken the cumulative impacts of all of these rate increases, and Mr. Struthers has given me the answer on that.

My final question in this area, and if we could turn up a -- an interrogatory response, it is a response to a Board Staff interrogatory, H1, tab 1, schedule 9, now, this is -- in this, the Board Staff referred to the comment letters, and if I go to the third paragraph of the response, the answer is:

"Hydro One has responded to each letter or e-mail received.  In most cases we outline, at a high level, how the hearing process works and how an individual may participate.  This standard letter is shown below.  In cases where specific rate impact information was requested we provided that information."

Here is the standard response:

"I am writing to acknowledge Hydro One Networks receipt of your "date _, 2009" e-mail addressed to the Secretary of the Ontario Energy Board with comments on Hydro One Networks' 2010-2011 distribution rates application."

And I want to underscore the following sentence in the next paragraph:

"Hydro One Networks has followed the Ontario Energy Board's guidelines for Ontario electricity distribution utilities with respect to preparing and filing cost of service rates applications.  The Board's written hearing process which was outlined in the Notice published in newspapers does provide you with opportunities to present your concerns and comments to the Board through your email of comment.  The Board's Notice states that any comments filed on this Application..."
And so on and so forth.  But let's just stay with the sentence if we can:

"Hydro One Networks has followed the Ontario Energy Board's guidelines for Ontario electricity distribution utilities with respect to preparing and filing cost of service rates applications."

Now, I have been through those guidelines, panel, and I don't see anywhere in those guidelines where the Board tells you how much you have to spend.  Am I right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think what we were referring to in this letter, sir, just had to do with the process of applying for rate increases and what were the general processes for applying for rate increases, and when we could do it.  And then once we did it, what were the appropriate notifications that needed to be given to customers, and then what was the process with respect to interrogatories and settlement conferences and so on and so forth.

That is what this process and guidelines was referring to, sir.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Van Dusen, somebody like the letters I wrote (sic) to you, the retired couple in Waldhof, if they write and they complain or they express their concern about the rate impacts, I suggest to you, Mr. Van Dusen, that when they read that sentence I have just underscored, that they would reach the conclusion that it is the Ontario Energy Board that is the cause of the rate impacts.  Is that not fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is certainly not what we intended when we wrote the letter, sir.

MR. WARREN:  I am sure you didn't intend it.  But is that not the effect of it, that you blamed somebody else for your own decisions about spending?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir.  That's not the case.  All we were indicating is that we followed the guidelines properly with respect to filing notice and filing appropriate affidavits and following the process outlined from the Board in terms of what happens when, where and how.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would also like to add to that.  I think the sentence in context, if you read it as a complete sentence, clearly says it is with respect to preparing and filing cost of service rate applications.

MR. WARREN:  My final question in this context, panel, is if you could turn up the transcript from yesterday, transcript volume 2, page 157.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Could we have that reference, again, please?

MR. WARREN:  Volume 2, page 157.  It is an exchange between Mr. Graham and Mr. Thompson.

Now, the entire context for the exchange, panel, was Mr. Thompson was asking questions about the impact on one of the members of his constituency, how they could consider the impact of these bills.  And the answer from Mr. Graham was:
"I think that the board of directors understands the directions we got with respect to the transmission and distribution business."

Now, Mr. Struthers, I am puzzled by that.  What were the directions you got with respect to the transmission and distribution business?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have a memorandum of agreement with the Province of Ontario, and it is dated March of 2008, I believe.  I am not sure if it was filed with this material, but it is certainly available on our website.

That clearly states, with respect to performance expectations, the Government of Ontario's expectations as to what and how Hydro One will perform.  Those are the expectations that we are following.

MR. WARREN:  And that's expectations with respect to?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Also, if I was to add to that, if you look at the September 21st, 2009 letter, which I think is filed as H-6-5, part 2, to the chairman of the Board of Hydro One, Mr. Arnett, with respect to the Green Energy Act, it was quite clear in that document the expectations of the shareholder.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, Mr. Struthers -- and I apologize for this, that you were speaking faster than I could write.  I didn't hear the exchange or I didn't capture fully the exchange you had with Mr. Rogers.

Is it my understanding, sir, that you are prepared to consider a variance account for the spending on the Green Energy Act matters?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think that is fair.

I think what I indicated to the Board was that it was important for Hydro One to receive the cash funding in order to be able to do the work and that we would certainly look at a variance account which allowed for -- with reasonable certainty of recovery and that would allow us to then adjust, as required, whether we had overspent or underspent.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, panel.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

We will take our lunch break now and return at one o'clock.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:50 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:08 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Did any matters come up during the lunch break?  No?

I don't see any intervenors in the front row.  Does that mean that there's no one going next, or are you --

Mr. Faye?  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Faye.  Can the witness panel see you?

MR. FAYE:  Perhaps I can move a little this way and they can move a little that.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Now I have to undo my computer to do that.  I think we can see each other okay now.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am asking questions on behalf of Energy Probe.

And to start with, I would just like to follow up on something that Mr. Warren was asking you about this morning.  And it concerns Hydro One's concern about customer bill impacts.  I'd like to ask you a few questions about your budget process that might illuminate that a little bit.  When you do your budget process, I am assuming that senior management must issue some instructions to the staff departments.  Do they?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Yes, that's correct, they do.

MR. FAYE:  And in that instruction, did you identify the need to keep rates as low as possible for customers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The business planning instructions, which have actually been filed as confidential material in this proceeding, don't actually go through and delineate specifically what the rate impacts are to be for the forward years.  That process of determining the rate increase and -- is taken into account or developed as a result of going through the planning process and taking a look at all the constraints that get applied to the initial estimate.  And one of the considerations is financial and regulatory considerations, and part and parcel of the regulatory considerations is impact to the customer.

So it is not part of the initial instructions but it is considered at every point through the process as we get down to the final set of business plans.

MR. FAYE:  So it's a management review of the budgets that come up from individual departments.  It's at the management review level that this kind of criterion is taken into account, is that fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.  It would be at the management and the senior management review, as well as the board's review.

MR. FAYE:  I find that a little problematic, in that if staff aren't told to only put projects forth that are absolutely necessary, and that the reason for that is that it is hard times; there's been a number of increases in rates for Hydro One and other utilities.  And if you don't highlight that to staff, how do they know not to put in just a wish list?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We, to address that, we do push back on the staff to ensure that the work that is being done is the necessary work.

We are not trying to do things that are a wish list.  We have objectives that we are trying to attain or achieve that are in or -- in alignment with our strategic goals and objectives, and that is the work that we are trying to do.  It's very clear that we are trying to be cost-efficient and prudent.

MR. FAYE:  Following along on that, then, is it fair to say that staff weren't specifically directed to find economies in OM&A and capital programs?  Is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that is not -- that is not a fair comment.  Let me be more specific.

I think as I articulated somewhat earlier in questions from Mr. Warren, the business planning process, the risk-based business planning process starts with a higher level of expenditures than you see before you, what we define in the risk-based methodology as an asset need level.

And what we do is, we then go through the series of applying constraints, whether these be material acquisition constraints, whether they be the ability to get the resources, whether they be the ability to get outages.

And then we get down to other constraints, which are:  What is going to be the ultimate rate impact, and is that rate impact appropriate to put forward?

So during that process, the working teams that put together the material and review with senior management get challenged by all of the application of all of those constraints, and at the end is the product that goes into the business plan and ultimately into the rate filing.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let me ask this from a slightly different point of view, then.

It's my understanding that if a business is in trouble, it ordinarily -- or it is facing tough times, ordinarily they will take some measures to try and cut costs.  And I wonder if Hydro One has implemented any cost containment measures that ordinary businesses might be implementing?  I will give you an example or two.  Have you got a hiring freeze on?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I can answer that question.  We are obviously looking at our operating expenses and trying to cut them back.  We are subject to the Ontario government's directive in terms of expenses, and therefore are following that directive.  We were following it anyway, but we are cutting back costs where it doesn't make sense to incur them or where there is no benefit to our customers to do so.

With respect to hiring freeze, we are hiring staff as appropriate to do the work program that is laid out.

MR. FAYE:  But there is no direction to staff, saying:  You can't high anyone without senior management approving?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is not true.  Senior management does approve and does review hiring.


MR. FAYE:  On a case-by-case basis, or program basis?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Both.

MR. FAYE:  So senior management, if someone wanted to for instance, hire another line person, would that come to senior management for a "yes" or "no"?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It would depend on whether that was in the original budget or not.  If it is outside of the approved budgets, they would have to go through an executive review.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let me give you another example.

Have you implemented any postponement of merit increases, in the face of tough economic times?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would suggest that's probably a question that's better dealt with by the panel that looks after payroll and expenses.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  My next one may be the same, and just say so if it is.  Have you got a freeze on discretionary overtime?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I would suggest that is better dealt with that panel.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I will take that whole subject up with them.

So where I would like to take you now is questions related to Issue 1.2, and that's our Hydro One's economic and business planning assumptions for 2010-11 appropriate.  And there are about three areas I would like to just ask some questions on in this.

The first one is the impact of that issue on overall OM&A costs, and on Issue 4.2, which is capital expenditure costs.

I would like to refer you to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 3.  There is a table there on page 2, and these are the cost escalator percentages that you have used in the preparation of your evidence.

And according to the evidence, this is based on Global Insight's December 2008 forecast.  We asked you, in our Interrogatory No. 1, to be found at H-3-1, to update those with any more current information that you have, and you did update them with your most recent forecast from Global Insight.

And it turns out that the escalator numbers are quite different, that in the test year for distribution cost escalation for construction, for instance, the escalator is 1.3 percent, according to the first exhibit I referred you to.  And the revised estimate from Global Insight is actually a deflation; it is -0.1.

The same is true for distribution costs escalation for operations and maintenance.

And what I want to ask you is, are you -- will you refile or recalculate your revenue requirement based on the latest Global Insight factors, or are you staying with the existing evidence?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  At the current time, Hydro One intends to stay with the current evidence.  We will, however, as a matter of due course when we update for the final rate order, incorporate into the calculation of ROE the latest forecasts that will form the basis of the ROE.

Certainly, the Board has issued a revision to what is in our evidence already, and we're aware of that and we will roll that into the final rate order.

But in terms of taking a look at some of these economic assumptions, yes, there are certain things in the assumptions which would drive costs down and there are other events or assumptions that may drive costs up.  I guess in any forecasting process, once it's out the door, it already is subject to the vagaries of change, and we're well aware that some of the factors have changed in the economic indices, but there are many other factors that go plus and minus.

MR. FAYE:  I think I heard the answer I wanted to hear, and that is you are going to update for the Global Insight forecast of construction interest rates and OM&A rates; am I right on that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir, I did not say that.  I said that we were going to update for the latest forecast of interest rates for the purposes of updating the ROE.  That's all I said, sir.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if you are prepared to do it for ROE, why wouldn't it be appropriate to do it for construction and for OM&A?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Now, updating it for ROE is mandated by the Board.  That's something that we would normally do as a matter of course.

With respect to the economic indicators, what I was trying to convey, sir, is that there are factors that could lead to our revenue requirement being higher than it is in reality, in actual, and there is factors that could lead to our revenue requirement being lower than we've applied for.  And we're accepting the risk that it could be higher or lower.

There are some factors that you're pointing out that may drive costs lower, and there are other factors that could drive costs higher.  For example, if something happened to the load or something happened to material contracts that drove costs up through this period, Hydro One would be subject to accepting those cost increases.

MR. FAYE:  But would you take the same position on things like bad debts that might reasonably be expected to increase in hard times, that you would take all the risk on bad debt expense and not come back and ask the Board for more?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. FAYE:  And can I assume that should the Board direct you to take into account the decline in interest rates and the impact that has on your revenue requirement, you would certainly provide the necessary recalculation, would you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next area I want to go to is somewhat similar, and it would probably be helpful if you would turn up Energy Probe 3.  That would be H-3-3.

In here, we asked you for a similar analysis, being the cost of interest applied to construction work in progress, and with declining interest rates the same sort of effect as we just discussed occurs.

And I wonder if you would agree with me that it would be appropriate to update the construction work-in-progress carrying costs based on the sort of information that you provide to Energy Probe in that interrogatory?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think the issue, sir, we have with going through and picking select specific items to update is that our contention is that you could cherry pick a list of items which would drive costs down.

You could also cherry pick a list of items that, if updated during the course, could drive costs up.

Our position is that there are risks to our forecast in both directions and that we're willing to accept that risk.  The ROE is the exception, but that's a Board-mandated change to update ROE for interest rates.

But, otherwise, sir, I would say, no, we are not willing to update this.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you for that.

The next sub-area I wanted to go into a little bit was increases in employees and compensation costs that are assumed in the plan.  If this isn't the right panel for this, just say so.  I will move it off to another panel.

But having a look at the Board decision in the transmission rate case, 0272, the numbers that were forecast in that for employee counts are radically different from the numbers that are forecast in this case.

I wonder if you would comment on what is driving such a significant increase in staff numbers from what was just a year ago on 0272.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would again suggest that panel 4 might be the best place to have that discussion.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And another -- maybe a very brief question again.  Some of the increases in salaries are, I'm assuming, mandated by your collective agreements, and you have no discretion there; is that right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.

MR. FAYE:  But you do have discretion for your MCP staff?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We would have discretion for our MCP staff, though what we have to understand is our ability to attract people to do the work.  So it has to be market competitive.

MR. FAYE:  But that discretion that you have during hard times when probably people don't have a great number of opportunities in other companies to move off to, is it appropriate, do you think, to limit your economic increase to MCP staff to the level of inflation?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The Government of Ontario is our shareholder and also is a directive -- or provides directives as to MCP staff and staff compensation.

So to the extent that it's in their direction and hands, we look to them for guidance.

MR. FAYE:  Have they given you any guidance on that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  My understanding is there are potential discussions.

MR. FAYE:  When would you expect to have those discussions come to some resolution?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I can't talk for the government.  I can tell you that last year our compensation for MCP staff was limited to 1.5 percent, which was less than inflation.

MR. FAYE:  And can you give the Board an indication of what proposals you might be considering for compensation this year or in 2010?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, it is with the government.  The government will determine what public servants will be paid.

MR. FAYE:  So if I could just summarize that, if I understood you right, the government tells you what to pay your MCP staff?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The government provides directive.

MR. FAYE:  What form does the directive take?  Does it give you a band, for instance, within which you must fall?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It would depend on what the government's directive is.  I can't speak for the government.

MR. FAYE:  Have you had directives from them before on this subject?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have had lots of directives from the government on various subjects.

MR. FAYE:  But on this particular subject, MCP compensation?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That, I can't tell you.  I wasn't in a position at the time that I would have had knowledge of it.

MR. FAYE:  But your understanding at this time is that the government has -- gives Hydro One direction on what MCP compensation should amount to?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I can tell you that the government periodically will provide direction as to what it believes its civil servants should be paid.

MR. FAYE:  That would suggest that your pay scales for MCP are somehow linked to the civil service.

MR. STRUTHERS:  It would suggest that if the government, the shareholder, directs us, then we are subject to shareholder direction.

MR. FAYE:  I'm not sure that that's getting close to the answer I would like to hear.

I guess what I'm asking you is to take some arbitrary level system and you have people at level X.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  Does that correlate to level Y in the civil service, provincial civil service?

MR. STRUTHERS:  What I would suggest, perhaps, is this is a better item dealt with for the panel that looks after payroll, and I would leave it there.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I would like to turn to your mix of short- and long-term debt for the 2010-2011 years.

I think it would be useful to look at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1.


I may have the wrong -- if you'd just give me a moment here. I'm sorry, I've already covered that sub-issue.


But maybe there's one question that I forgot to ask on this long-term debt thing.  You're going to update long-term debt to the September 2009 information that you will get, and that, if I read the evidence right, applies to 2010.

What will you use for 2011?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, sir, to correct your assumption, we are updating the ROE and will update the ROE based on inputs.  If we use the September update, as issued by the Board most recently, they've indicated that the ROE for 2010, I think, would be 8.39 percent.  I could be --stand to be corrected, but I think I am right on that.  So we are not updating our borrowing rates, our debt rates.  We're just updating the ROE associated with the change in interest rate.

MR. FAYE:  But the change in interest rate drives your ROE, does it not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The ROE is based on a formulaic basis, and part of that has to do with the change in Canadian long-term bonds.

MR. FAYE:  Could I ask you to turn up Energy Probe 27? That would be H-3-27.

Here we asked you to update a table for the most recent consensus forecasts, which you did.  And there is a 2011 component to that table at the bottom of the page, table 4.

Do I hear you say that you will not update your 2011 ROE calculation to reflect the information that's in the 2011 part of this table?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  We will -- we will update the 2010 and 2011 ROE calculation consistent with the -- the Board's formula.

The Board issues, for the purposes of LDCs, that rate in the fall, and they've issued the rate for 2010 in the fall.  But in terms of a forecast, we update the forecast consistent with the methodology and consistent with the forecast that is put out by the OEB.


MR. FAYE:  And --


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, consistent with the forecast that the OEB mandates.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But that forecast only covers the first of your test years, right?  It doesn't cover 2011?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  Just one second.

MS. NOWINA:  Can I interrupt for a moment?

Gentlemen, it appears that you may not be aware that the Board is working on cost-of-capital policy, and that that may make a difference to the formula that you apply.

And so I would assume that you know, with very little certainty right now, what you are going to apply, because you don't have that policy yet.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, yes, the company will do whatever the Board directs with -- in respect to this.  I know it is under consideration, and once the Board decides, the company will follow your direction.

MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.  So a lot of questions to the witnesses on what they're going to do is pretty speculative at this point.

MR. FAYE:  I take your point, Madam Chair, and I will move on.

The next area concerns not the amount of interest or long-term debt percentage, but more the mix.

And if you could turn up Energy Probe 29 -- that is H-3-29 -- and H-3-30, those two IRs, I think, will help us on this questioning.  In H-3-30, in the response to part A, we understood your response in the last line there about distributing debt maturities evenly over time to mean that you would distribute them so that the same amount tried to come due in the same periods, and that this got translated into a strategy to issue the same amount of short-term debt as long-term debt.

Have I got that right, or am I mistaken there?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That may or may not be correct.  What we look at is debt maturities, when they will come due and how much, and also the opportunities in the market at the time.

MR. FAYE:  I have a table here in my notes, "Mix of long-term debt."  And it says it's a proposed Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2.

And I see in there that the short-term, medium-term and long-term debt for 2010 and 2011 are the same numbers.  That -- that's where we've drawn the conclusion from.  This would be on page 4 to 6 of that schedule.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Sorry.  Yes.  Sorry, sir.

What you're taking a look at for 2010, you're taking a look at the issues, and there is 163.2 million issued throughout the year evenly and -- for 2010.  And then for 2011, I think you are referencing the 127.2, three times throughout the year.

Yes, there is a planning assumption.  That's what we do.  We plan to issue different term debts throughout the year at different periods.

But as Mr. Struthers has said, what we really look for is to make sure that we enter the market at the right time.  So the specific dates here are just planning assumptions.  We obviously will look for the best opportunity to look again to the market, and also for the right amounts, as sometimes the right amount isn't exactly what is planned.  It is a little bit more or a little bit less, depending on needs and depending on the situation in the market.

MR. FAYE:  Fair enough.  I completely agree with you there.  I guess the point I am trying to get to here is if we look at the cost of long-term versus the cost of short-term debt, as a general proposition, would you agree that long-term debt costs you more than short-term debt?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The interest rates for short-term debt currently are lower than the interest rates for long-term debt, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if you wanted to minimize your debt costs, and all other things being equal, you would lean towards short-term debt, if you could?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's not necessarily correct.  I think what we would look at is we would look at the maturities that we have currently due, and what our forecast openings would be, in terms of being able to apply debt in any particular year.

Clearly, what we don't want to be doing is risking the company by taking an excessive amount of debt for renewal in any one year.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, let's have a look at Energy Probe 29, the other IR I asked you to turn up.  And in the response to our question there, you provided a table.  It is on the second page of that IR response.

And if we look down the left-hand side, the line numbers are labelled, if you go down to 26, starting at 26 to 30, appears to be all of the debt that was proposed to be issued in 2009.


And I think I will just ask you about number 30 to start with.  That was an issue due on 15 November for 99.5 million, I believe.  Did you make that -- did you make that issue?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  If you're talking about line 30, what is here forecast to be done on November 15th, we did an issue.  We did an issue on -- what's the date there?  Sorry, I will get the exact date.  November 16th, on November 16th we did an issue at 3.13 percent for five years, at a face value of $250 million.  And, sorry, the $250 million, I should say, is Hydro One Inc. total.  There would be an amount allocated to distribution from that.

MR. FAYE:  And would it be close to that 99 and a half that is noted in column G?  Or am I reading that wrong?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe it is a little bit more.  Subject to check, I think it is a little bit more than that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Column G is the cost.  It's not the principal amount.  Isn't it column D we need to look at?

MR. FAYE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  You're right.  Thank you.12.6 is the principal amount.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I stand corrected.  Yes.

So the amount allocated to Distribution would be considerably more than that 12.6.  But if you take a look at the issues that have been done -- that we've done in 2009 and add up the issues that we are planning to do versus the issues we actually did, we borrowed about, in Distribution, approximately about 165 million versus of plan of about 102.  We borrowed about $65 million more.

MR. FAYE:  If I just add up the principal amount column, starting at entry on line 26, that has a maturity date which indicates it is short-term issue.  Do you agree with that, that 35 million November 10th of 1919 -- sorry, 2019?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And the next one is November 13 of 2012, and so that is a short-term issue.

Then we have the next two comprising 195 million, at least proposed, and they are both 30-year terms, aren't they?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So it would seem that long-term debt issues have far exceeded short-term debt issues.  How do you reconcile that with the strategy of making them equal?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, again, it is really dependent on market conditions at the time and what we think we can raise and where we think we can raise money at the most efficient interest rate.

In this case, earlier this year, long bonds seemed to be more favourable and that's where we went.  Put it this way.  There was a market for that, whereas there wasn't a market for short term.  So we have to take into consideration the market itself and their appetite for various types of bonds, whether it is longer-term bonds, short-term bonds, five, ten, 15 or 30 or 31 years, in case.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the fact that it is going to cost considerably more because long-term debt is at about 5.49 and the November 15th issue of short term was at 4.77, that would make a significant interest cost difference, wouldn't it?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, you've got to look at this as a multi-year planning, a multi-year borrowing program, where what we are trying to do is ensure that debt maturities, when they come due, don't all fall in one year.

The other thing that we have to take into our consideration is our cash requirements at the time we go to market and the market willingness with respect to each of the various categories, whether it is a 5-year, 10-year, 15-year or 30-year bond.  So we are very conscious of the market that we are trying to buy into or trying to get money from, and we are trying to tap into that market in the most efficient manner at the time that we go in.

Interest rates have changed during the year, and it is a matter of when we have to go into the market to borrow.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I take from that, then, that in March and July when you issued these long-term instruments, there was no appetite in the market for short-term instruments.  Have I got that right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The market that we were trying to tap into at that time, that was the most effective place, and with the maturities that we were trying to achieve, that was the most effective time and place to go in.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me, I was wondering if I could correct a statement I put on the record before?  I was talking about the difference between 165 million actually versus 102.  That should not have been for the whole year.  That just had to do with the last two issues, number 29 and 30.  I was comparing what our plan was, which was the 102, versus what we actually borrowed in Distribution as being 165.  I think I said it was for the whole year.  That is a mistake.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  With the questions that have been put over to panel 4, I am done early.  Thank you very much.  And thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

Who would like to go next?  Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sure.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, panel.  I want to start off with a question about your labour relations strategy, and the reference is in one of the confidential documents, but -- and I will refer you to it, and, for the Board's reference, I don't propose to read from the document, but I just want to ask you questions about the strategy.

If my questions touch on areas that you feel are confidential, you can let me know.  That is Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 1.

It's a little cumbersome to find, but it is page 12 of the table that looks like that.  (Indicating)

It is entitled "2010-2014 Hydro One Business Plan Phase 4 Corporate Instructions".

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that now.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  On page 12, there is a section called "Labour Relations Strategy".  Again, I won't read from it, because it is a confidential document, but the Board has, in the past couple of rate proceedings, commented on Hydro One's compensation costs.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  There have been from time to time - in the last transmission rate proceeding, for example - disallowances of part of your OM&A budgets on the basis that your compensation costs are too high; is that fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is what I believe the case actually said, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So let me ask, without reading from this document:  Are those decisions -- is the Board's comment with respect to your compensation cost, are they reflected in your labour relations strategy?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Obviously we take into consideration what the Board says, particularly with respect to compensation and labour strategies.

What you have to understand, though -- and, again, I will defer to panel 4, but we are bound by collective agreements, and those collective agreements, to the extent that they are -- they can be changed obviously gives us flexibility to do so.

To the extent that we are within a collective bargaining period and we have a contract in place, we are limited as to what we can do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it from your answer there is no explicit reference to the Board's decisions -- the Board's findings in your labour relations strategy?

MR. STRUTHERS:  As I said, we certainly understand the direction that the Board has been giving us.  We certainly understand the views of the Board with respect to our labour costs.  However, having said that, we are restricted by what we can do, subject to collective agreement and collective negotiation.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I am going to move on, then, to another one of your planning documents.  This one was a confidential document, but it was produced as a public document I guess on Tuesday.  That is Exhibit K2.3, which I guess originally was part of Exhibit H, tab 13, schedule 1, attachment 1.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, if you could hold on for a sec?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think we have the document.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you go to the last page of that document, which -- I think this is still part of the same document we were looking at earlier, but this is now a public document.

It's page 19, what is called, "2010-2014 Hydro One Business Plan Phase 4 Corporate Instructions".  Do you have that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You discuss a couple of things on this page, and one of the things that you discuss is the Board's incentive regulation model.  That's beginning around the third and fourth paragraph.  Do you see that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Is it fair to paraphrase and say that Hydro One's view, generally, is that the incentive regulation model is not sufficient for Hydro One's business planning purposes?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think it would be fair to say that while we appreciate the nature of the model and how it is used, it probably is not appropriate for our current business planning at the current time, when we're expending significant amounts in terms of rate base.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So I will take you to the fourth paragraph, where it says:
"Networks has concluded that the latest IRM model focussed only on distributors' OM&A cost does not provide the appropriate drivers for greater innovation, productivity and efficiency, and therefore has a limited role in setting distribution rates."

So -- and I understand your position regarding your OM&A costs, now, but can you explain to me how the IRM model does not provide for drivers for greater innovation and productivity and efficiency?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  The -- one of the philosophies behind an incentive regulation mechanism is that the regulator establishes a revenue or price cap or price level, and then allocates a certain percentage change to that revenue or price cap going forward.

So you have some -- I shouldn't say cap.  They set a level and then they adjust it by some factor, taking into account productivity and efficiency.

And the incentive and innovation aspect comes in by the company attempting to do better than that product -- than that change in rates.  So the change in rates was a certain percentage.  If the company could do something to accomplish the same level of work and same level of accomplishments, yet do it at lower cost, then the company could benefit by that.  And that's what is made -- that is what the reference is being made there.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's the incentive regulation model?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  But that's -- the fact -- we didn't feel, because of -- because it only dealt with OM&A and didn't deal with the capital side, to the extent that we thought it was going to deal with the capital side on the IRM module, we didn't feel we were going to be able to achieve the innovation, productivity and efficiency that we thought we might have been able to under an incentive regulation scheme.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, as you just described the incentive regulation scheme, it sounds like it has a built-in productivity factor in it, and so the challenge for the company, I guess, would be to do better than that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So in that respect, the model has a built-in incentive for the company to develop or to find productivity and efficiencies; wouldn't you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it does.  However, the module as it was applied to Hydro One ultimately did not apply it across OM&A and the capital module, as outlined in the Board's structure for the IRM.

And as such, Hydro One felt it wouldn't be able to -- they wouldn't be given the opportunity, necessarily, to have a chance to better the productivity factor embedded in the formula.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Let me ask you about the last two sentences in that paragraph, when you say -- the sentence beginning:

"Interspersing the cost-of-service submissions with one-year IRM submissions would allow Networks sufficient time and resource to prepare the comprehensive multi-year cost-of-service applications."

So there, you are just talking about having enough time to prepare these multiple-year cost-of-service applications, which I take it is what Hydro One prefers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly, at the time that these instructions were issued, which was February of 2009, we were still entertaining -- as you can see by our rate strategy below -- entertaining potentially going into one-year IRMs at various points over the planning period.

I think as time has gone, on we have certainly re-evaluated that strategy and we're giving a good sober thought to perhaps coming in more regularly with cost-of-service applications.  I don't think that is a final decision, but that certainly is where we're leaning now.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then let me ask you about the last sentence in that paragraph, where you say:

"The company can also plan for IRM submissions prior to sensitive periods and avoid extensive public review during these times."

Now, I realize that is one line out hundreds of pages of material, but that sounds to me like, in conjunction with the other parts of this page that we've read, that when the company has large spending plans, they will come in with a cost-of-service application, because that, you feel, that better suits your needs.

But when you have things that you'd rather not have public scrutiny, then you will go with an incentive regulation application, because then you don't -- you have the benefit of not having the public scrutiny.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that's not correct at all.

As I said, the strategy has evolved.  This is a February 2009 planning document.  And there are certain periods would we -- where we are going to be very active in other applications, primarily on the transmission side, and it may have been more effective for the company to enter into an IRM process for distribution.

However, given the Green Energy Act and given the increase in sustainment costs -- the details of which were talked about on panel 1 for Green Energy, and the sustainment and development costs will be talked to by panel 3 and to a certain extent, panel 4 -- we are now re-evaluating a strategy, and think that because of the increase in the costs and the pressure on the business to do more work, it might be more prudent for us to come back on a more regular basis for cost-of-service applications.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I appreciate that.  But what else could you mean by "sensitive periods and avoid extensive public review during these times"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  One second, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  I recognize this was an in camera piece of material.  I would prefer to talk about it in camera, if we could.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I understand we're going to attempt to do the in camera session all in one go.  Maybe what we can do is -- I don't know how much more Mr. DeVellis may have -- over the afternoon break we might discuss with Mr. DeRose and Mr. DeVellis if we can -- maybe Mr. DeVellis can complete the rest of his cross and might be able to come back with a portion.  But maybe over the break we could try and sort something out?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, this doesn't seem to be confidential material.  It is a public document now.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I guess what we don't know, Mr. DeVellis, is what the response is going to be, and only the witnesses know what the response is going to be.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  That's fine.  I probably only have one more question on this, so -- but that's fine.

Let me move on.  Can you turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 39?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have the document.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  This is -- I believe you referred to this earlier.  You have the various levels of investment, and we saw similar table in the last rate proceeding -- I believe it was the transmission rate proceeding -- and you have your filed level.  It's beginning on page 2, and page 3.

So for distribution and -- for capital and OM&A, you have the filed level, the minimum level and the variance between the two.

And I understand you have your investment prioritization evidence in section A of the application, but that is done sort of on -- if I can characterize it this way -- an abstract level.  So you sort of described the process, but haven't shown us what the difference would be between, say, your minimum level of spending and your as-filed level of spending.

So do you have an analysis somewhere of what would happen if you chose a minimum level of investment?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not exactly sure what the question is, but if you are asking:  Have we provided a document that shows the difference between what we asked for and the minimum, that is that document.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, that's --

MR. ROGERS:  Could I interrupt for a moment, Madam Chair?  I don't object to the line of questioning; I just wanted to observe to the Board that this particular topic was dealt with in great, meticulous detail in the last case.  I think it was the transmission case.

Ms. Chaplin may have un-fond memories of that.  I don't remember.  But I know we spent a lot of time on this, so there is a long, long transcript describing this process.  I just observe that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, but I wasn't there, Mr. Rogers, so I would like to hear it.

[Laughter.]

MR. ROGERS:  It sounds as though I missed part of the hearing.

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  I don't want to give Ms. Chaplin an excuse to take the afternoon off.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I was there, and I am happily reliving it, so...

My question is:  We have the, I guess, the beginning point -- well, what I call the beginning point, the minimum level.  And then you have the as-filed level.  And then you have a document which you call your "Prioritization and investment process" which describes the process in a, I call it, general way.  And we -- you know, the Board, in my view, the Board or intervenors can't assess what the impact would be of start -- of having one level of investment versus another level of investment.

And I will give you an example.  If you turn to page 3, under "Line Maintenance", you have a $7.2 million variance between what you call the minimum level of investment and the as filed level of investment.

We don't know what the impact would be if you were granted the minimum level of investment, for example, in terms of risks or what other company values.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I can be helpful here to you, sir, and to the Board, going to the high level, just in terms of the risk-based prioritization process.

So what the company looks at is various levels of expenditure, and the risk-based process allows us to evaluate, on some level, the residual risk that is left over that we anticipate would be there after a five-year period at increasing levels of investment.

The more money you spend, the less residual risk there would be at the end of a five-year period.  Conceptually, that's the process.

We have some models that we use that take input, very detailed input, on each one of these line items you see.  There is very detailed input developed for different levels of expenditure.  Starting at the minimum level of expenditure, which, as this interrogatory clearly indicates, is not -- is a level of investment that is neither sustainable nor desirable.

We start at the minimum level, which keeps us out of jail immediately and keeps the CFO out of jail immediately, which is very important to me, and then at increasing levels of expenditure we mitigate more risk.

What the company does in this process is it takes a level of:  Taking into account all of the constraints, all of the pressures and the system, itself, what do the asset condition assessments tell us about the system?  What is the appropriate level to land on for the business plan, and then ultimately the filing?

So the process goes through this specific task for each one of these investments, and we have filed in an interrogatory response a couple of examples.  I'm sorry, I don't have them handy.  I can get them at break and tell you what examples, or I will take a minute and look right now.

There are a couple of interrogatories where we were asked, Give us a couple of examples of this and how this process works.  And it is laid out in a fair bit of detail, and, I'm sorry, I don't have the reference handy, but I will find it very quickly, or one of my colleagues will find it and can be able to give you the reference.

And we can give you, then, Mr. DeVellis, a very specific example of how it is employed.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  My friend is telling me it is H-7-51.  Does that sound right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  H-7-51 is one of the examples that we provided that takes us through the process in a fair bit of detail.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you want to turn to it and we can go through it or you can walk me through it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I could do it that, if you wanted to, in this level of detail.  There's someone on panel 4 who could take you through it in detail, but I am happy to do it if you want me to.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe that is panel 3.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Panel 3 or panel 4 would be able to take you through it, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  But the process you just described, there must be some analysis along the way where you consider these various levels of investment and what the risks are?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Quite explicitly.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That hasn't been produced to us, or has it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  That level of detail has not been produced.  Those are the very interim, beginning steps of the business planning process.  And I think, as Mr. Rogers has indicated, we were taken through this in a fair bit of detail.  I think at one of the previous proceedings we actually filed, Madam Chair, with the Board kind of what the various levels were at the various times.

We had a level -- a higher level initially, which I have described as asset needs.  We -- then after applying some constraints, we came down to another level.  After some senior management direction and consideration, we came down to the final level, which was then filed with the Board.

And as we go through those various levels, what the asset management organization needs to do to the senior management team is they apply these constraints and say, Do you need to do this?  Do you need to do it now?  Can you defer it?  As they say, if you defer the impact on the residual risk in each of these areas - financial, reputation, regulatory, reliability, efficiency, safety and environment and customer - across those values, they will say, Here are where you could see some impacts.

Some of the ones which are easy to think about are in terms of reliability.  If you don't cut down trees, your reliability will get worse.  Now, I am obviously using a very high level analogy, but that is the concept that goes on.  That we have articulated at a fairly rigorous level through the planning process across all of those items that you saw in the previous interrogatory.

But that's a very granular level of detail and it is very early in the process, and it's kind of -- it's the amalgamation and finalization of that, after final management review and final board review, that ends up in front of this Board.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is there something you can provide to us -- I am not looking hundreds of pages, but something that can be easily produced that could summarize what you just described, i.e., the various level of risks, specific risks, of moving from one level of spending to another?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I would argue, sir, that this example is an excellent example that does that, and that, in conjunction with the theory and the prioritization process, would do it.

That would be my suggestion.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You mean the example at H-7-51?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That is only one.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I know.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I am asking if there is something that -- along the lines of the chart at H-7-39, that could be easily produced that would summarize the process that you just described?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. DeVELLIS:  Let me help you.  I don't mean to go through each -- each step along the way.

MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a bit of an evolving process.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Obviously, we start early in November and work our way through.  It is an evolving process that we go through before we actually end up with a plan that we all agree to.  I am not sure if you want me to -- if you are asking that -- for that evolving process?

MR. DeVELLIS:  No.  No.  That is why what I was getting at.  I appreciate that going through each iteration of the plan would be quite involved now.

What about just going from minimum level to the as-filed level?  As you go through this table -- I believe there was a table at the last proceeding which summarized that.  So you look at the filed level, you look at the minimum level and explain what the difference is.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will take one more attempt, Madam Chair, here.

If I was to characterize the filed level versus the minimum level, very high level characterization, it is probably at about a level 1.5 if I had to do that.  So we have a minimum level, a level 1, level 2, level 3, level 4 of the various investments.

If I had to say what is the average level that has been filed here, it's around 1.5 to 1.75.  That's really broad brush, but try to give you an indication of where we -- so we didn't end up at level 5, at the maximum level.  We got just above minimum for many of the drivers.

Many of the drivers are at minimum level.  Some are at level 1.  Some are at level 2.  If you averaged them, which is kind of a hard concept to understand, you would get the number I was talking about.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, if I could just ask the witness, does that mean the 1.5 is closer to the minimum than the 5, which is closer to the beginning of the process?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, sir.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, I think I will move on.

The last area I want to ask about is with respect to the change in implementation date for your rates, and you have an interrogatory response that sets out the revenue requirement impact of doing that.  That's at Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 7.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And that shows that the impact of moving to a January 1st implementation date as opposed to May 1st is $44.3 million; is that right?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The schedule shows a revenue impact of 44.3 million.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's for the January to April -- January 1st to April 30th period?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  As indicated at the bottom of that document, it says January to April.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So that would be - tell me if you have trouble with this characterization - the revenue deficiency for that period as opposed to your current revenue requirement?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And this issue arose in Hydro Ottawa's rate proceeding a couple of years ago.  I provided an excerpt -- not an excerpt -- I provided the whole decision to your counsel.  Do you have it in front of you?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I provided copies to Board Staff as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This will be Exhibit K3.6 and it is the Decision on request for interim rates in the Ottawa Hydro case, EB-2007-0713.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.6:  Decision on request for interim rates in the Ottawa Hydro case, EB-2007-0713.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So this document has the decision on the request for interim rates, and then if you -- if you go to -- after Page 5, just for the Board's benefit, an excerpt from the final Decision in the proceeding.

And the reason for that is that there was -- the issue arose again in the final Decision, in which pretty much the same issues were argued again, a second time, but -- and the same result ensued.

So I'll just -- going to refer to the interim decision, and that is at page 4 of the document.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think I am with you.  This is the highlighted section on --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And the reason it was a request for interim rates is because the Hydro Ottawa had requested, because it was the rate proceeding was going to go past January 1st, so they had made a request that the rates be declared interim as of January 1st.  And so this is where the -- and the issue of Hydro Ottawa's request to change the implementation date to January 1st arose.

And what the Board found is that this -- this is the last sentence of the highlighted portion:

"Hydro Ottawa's contention that there be a revenue deficiency for the four months ended April 30th, 2008 is based on factors that were not part of the regulatory construct under which the existing rates were approved."

Do you see that?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I see the sentence, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So -- and the regulatory construct was the -- which is described earlier in the decision, the existing rates were approved under the Board's 2nd generation incentive regulation model, and they had -- so Hydro Ottawa had an existing rate order as of April -- sorry, May 1st, 2007, which was to run to April 30th, 2008.

So is that similar to Hydro One's current rate order?  It is under the 3rd-generation incentive regulation mechanism?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So do you have any reason why this Board should find differently than the Board in the Hydro Ottawa decision?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  A couple of things.  When we filed the response to a Board Staff interrogatory, H-1-6, where we indicated some of our reasons for wanting to change to a calendar year, this indicated some of the external reasons.  There are obviously some other internal reasons that would be very beneficial for Hydro One.

However, at this point in time Hydro One has not requested interim rates.  We are very hopeful that this Board will be able to move expeditiously through this process.

However, I must admit we do have some concerns that there's a part of the hearing now which has been moved over to January, and we're concerned about potentially other further delays.  And I guess we are concerned that we may be forced into a situation where we may have to ask for interim rates.

But that is not what we've done at this time.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But the relief you're requesting doesn't just apply to 2010.  It would apply to 2011, and going forward as well; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  That's not true.  If you -- regardless of what happens, rates would be in place for the calendar year of 2010, and then we would start new rates for the calendar year of 2011.

So we are not -- let's say, for argument, hypothetically, we got rates established on April 1st, say, this year.  Our rates would take us from April 1st to December 31st, and then the new rates approved by this Board would kick in on January 1st --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  That's what I mean.  This is --it would be a permanent change.  It's not just for 2010.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry.  Yes, I take your point.  Yes, that's what we're suggesting, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so -- but I didn't hear an answer to my question, though.

You don't -- or at least I haven't seen Hydro One's position with why the finding in this proceeding should be different than the finding in the Hydro Ottawa proceeding.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess I am not overly familiar with the Hydro Ottawa decision.  They were talking about a circumstance that potentially we're in for 2010.  I don't see the situation, as described here, having anything to do with 2011.

This situation has to do with rates are in place already for a period, where you want new rates in place.  That is kind of the issue being dealt with here.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It would not be applicable for 2011, as I understand it, the issue raised here.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

I don't know if we have one more intervenor, at least, start.  Who would like to go next? Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, I can go.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  I was the friend who referred Mr. DeVellis to H-7-51, I think, because I had some questions on that.

So most of my questions are -- well, I've got two areas.  The first area is on this minimum spending level and it has to do with understanding exactly what it represents.

And I am going to start with Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 6, page 5.  And this is a figure I think I have seen a few times, as Mr. DeVellis pointed out, in other proceedings.


As I understand it, it is supposed to represent -- or this section of your evidence talks about what it means to be a minimum level of investment.  And my understanding is that the minimum level of investment is one that avoids an unacceptable level of risk during the planning five-year period, the five-year planning period; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It doesn't avoid that risk.

It is a level which, if you maintained over the planning period, there is a high probability that an event that we would consider to be unacceptable to the company would occur.  So if you remained at the minimum funding level across any of the drivers, you would expect something to happen that we would consider unacceptable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that's, I guess, the first area that I am not understanding, because I am looking on this Page 5 at line 8, and it says:

"Minimum levels of investment, as illustrated in Figure 1, are those required to avoid unacceptable risk."

It's my understanding you're planning is a five-year period and you have a minimum level spending for a five-year period.

And as this says, that avoids unacceptable risk.  So I don't quite understand how that sentence, at least, meshes with what you just said about minimum level spending.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It is a bit of a subtlety, but let me try to explain.

So when we're talking about avoiding unacceptable risk here, so we would have for each of our business values a series of events that we would be trying to avoid.

Obviously, with something with respect to reliability, you obviously are trying to avoid going to an extremely unreliable system where blackouts are occurring on a regular basis.  That would not be appropriate.

So minimum level of expenditure will take you out of the reasonable probability that that will happen immediately, but if you spend continuously at that level, at the end of five years, you may not have had anything happen, but the end of the five years, the probability has increased significantly.

It is a risk-based approach, risk-based probability approach to the plan.

MR. BUONOGURO:  Okay.  So if we go over the page to page 6, I think this is maybe what you are talking about.  At line 2, it says:

"As noted earlier, risk is assessed over a five-year planning horizon, that is the minimum level of investment is intended to maintain the company on the horizon of unacceptable risk over and just beyond the five-year planning horizon."

Which suggests to me that, yes, the -- yes, the minimum level spending is for five years, and during that five-year span, you don't -- you are avoiding unacceptable risk.  But at the end of that five-year span, if all you have done is minimum level of spending, you will be on the cusp of or entering into an area where you will be facing unacceptable risk, so therefore sometime in year 6?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, risk theory isn't that clean-cut.  What we're saying is that if you planned at the minimum level and left it there over a five-year period, in each year that you continued -- so in year 2 and year 3, the probability of one of those catastrophic events happening would go up.  And by the time you get to the end of the fifth-year period, you would have a very -- a much higher probability that that catastrophic event would happen.

So you are increasing the probability that that would happen each year.  It doesn't remain level for five years, and then jump up.  It is increasing over that entire period.  So each year as you go through, as you have left the expenditures at the minimum level, you are facing increased risks for something to happen that we would consider unacceptable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  But these two sentences at the top of this page suggest that the point at which that risk increases to the point of being unacceptable risk is designed to happen in year six.  Yes, the risk goes up if you maintain a minimum level of spending, but the whole point of doing a five-year minimum level spending planning is to make sure that the risk doesn't become "unacceptable" until year six.  That is how I am reading this.

And I am not hearing anything that tells me that that is not what this says.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I think if you look at the sentence, it talks about "the unacceptable risk over".  So it is implying it is over the five-year period, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It says, "to maintain the company on the horizon of unacceptable risk", which suggests to me just before unacceptable risk.  I'm just trying to understand --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  Just to continue the sentence, it says "risk over and just beyond the five-year planning horizon".  So it does include the five-year planning horizon.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So you're saying that the minimum level of investment keeps you at an unacceptable level of risk throughout the entire five-year period?

MR. STRUTHERS:  As my colleague has just said, each year that risk of something occurring increases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So sometime during the five years you might hit unacceptable risk?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me when?  When I say that, I know you are going to explain to me why you can't.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, let me try to be helpful in terms of taking some sort of example.  Let's take the example of vegetation management.

So we're not going to move to an eight-year cycle.  We are going to cut at a 12-, 13-, 14-year cycle.  I don't know what the minimum level is.  I should have it, but it is probably not that far off.  It is probably 12-year minimum.  And leave it at a 12-year cycle.

So each year as we go on, the vegetation grows and grows, and now we get to a point where we have left it there for five years and, thank goodness, nothing serious has happened, and now someone says, Okay, it is the sixth year.  Everything is going to fall apart.  Let's fix it now.

One of the other considerations is that's going to be much, much more expensive and difficult to fix in that sixth year, as well.  It is not just a matter of the probability of a major outage happening, but the cost to fix it is going to be much greater than the cost than had you done it on the other schedule.

I don't know if that is helpful, but that's kind of an analogy you could use, as well.  So there are other factors, but, yes, it could happen in year 2, year 3, year 4.  It is a little bit hard to say, but there are some tools that are taken into account.  There is some asset condition assessment work.  There are field studies that are done.

There is work in terms of regular maintenance where information is taken, and all of that information is brought to bear for the planner to use in determining:  What is the risk that I am mitigating as I move up at each subsequent level, and where is the level where I would be happy being?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If I could take you a few pages back in the same exhibit, A-14-6, page 3?  I think you may have been taken to this before today already.  Table 1 talks about the 2009 business values and key performance indicators.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you have described these are basically the factors or values that you take into consideration when assessing the risks?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In doing so, does the process await the various business values?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Actually, it doesn't.  We use an equal weighting across the business values for most of the analysis.  We do the analysis several ways, but the base analysis is done with an equal weighting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess what I am trying to get at, is there a scoring system or ranking system, or is it simply a qualitative analysis where people turn their minds to these different aspects of business values?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  It is a specific ranking system.

We've developed matrices that take into account probability of the event, and then the probability and the likelihood of the events -- sorry, outcome.  Sorry, thank you.  Outcome and probability of the event, and we have then taken our risk matrix and we have assigned values to the various points in the matrix.  So you have, you know, different various outcomes and you have various different probabilities, and we assign levels within those matrixes and we actually -- the asset planners actually go through and indicate, as they're spending more money, where on that matrix are they moving their overall investment across all of the business values.

So we actually have -- in addition to the numerical outcome, we have all of the background analysis that led to that decision-making process.

And that is challenged through the business planning process.  If they come forward and say, level 1 -- in going to minimum to level 1, I have mitigated this type of risk, we say, How do you know?  So asset condition assessment, they do these probabilistic models.  They have some forecasting tools.  They have information from the field in terms of regular surveys.  There is a whole host of information which is brought to bear, load forecast information.

There is a whole load of -- host of information which they bring to bear to make their decisions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it sounds like -- let me back up.

You have planners in all of the different areas of your business activities; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it sounds like there is a centralized methodological way in which they're supposed to approach their individual tasks, planning tasks.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is a combination of this set of rules, if I can call it that; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which they apply to their individual areas and their individual data, and so on and so forth?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When it comes to the central set of rules in terms of how they apply these business values, is that -- at least I don't think that is something that's ever been produced.  It sounds like something that you hand out to your planner, in a simple way, and say, Here's the book and this is how we want you to assess your risks in your particular area, in conjunction with your individual data.

That's what it sounds like, and perhaps you could tell me if that is true or describe what is actually true.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's true, but let me go on to say that with respect to this, there is a lot of training done at the beginning of each planning cycle with the asset planners to ensure that they understand the risk-based approach, that they understand how it applies to their area.

There are at least three levels of challenge before it would ever reach the level of the senior management team.  There is a level of challenge by all of the directors in asset management of the various managers who bring together these asset planning documents forward.

At that point, the challenge -- they have reviewed it and they challenge their people, and it goes back.  The next level of challenge is it comes to asset management.  It's a central organization called business integration, and actually there is a witness on panel 4, Mr. Malozewski, who ran that process for the last business planning process.

Well, there is another level of challenge trying to understand:  Does it make sense?  Does it hold together?  Was it articulated correctly?

Then there is a third level of challenge with the various working committees for the business planning process before it gets to the senior management team.  So this was a bit of an aside to your question.

So, yes, there is a document given to them, and they apply the document, but in terms of ensuring that they have applied it consistently and correctly, we spend a lot of time doing that, because we realize that could be an area where there could be some issues.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So perhaps I can ask for an undertaking to produce the document, along with an explanation, similar to what you have just given, on how the document is presented to them and how it is used in the planning process.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  The company actually looks at this as being a fairly commercially sensitive document.  It is not something that we would particularly want to have on the public record from the perspective that other organizations could use it.

It is something that is our own intellectual property when we developed it.  I am reluctant to provide the document for that purpose.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I would object on that basis, as well as this is something that should have been asked for in advance of the hearing, rather than wasting our -- well, taking our time in the hearing itself.  I wonder how probative it is at this point of the process.

During the interrogatory stage or the stakeholdering, perhaps it would be appropriate to go into this document, but now I question its probative value for you.

MS. NOWINA:  Any further thoughts, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, firstly, the objection is not on the basis of relevance.  It is on the basis of commercial sensitivity, and, therefore, a request for confidentiality.  So I can understand that might be an issue, and obviously the Board has, as we all know from this proceeding, a particular procedure for determining whether the document should be on the public record or kept in confidence.

In terms of when it should be asked for, I just discovered there was such a document through my cross-examination.

And going back to Mr. DeVellis's analysis, even going through -- he was asking for similar types of information in terms of how they came to certain rankings, and he was shown H-7-51, I believe, as being that is what you get.  It is the first I've heard of the document.


I don't know what it involves, but it seems like it is going to tell me, at least in part, how it is that the planners go through, for example, the criteria of safety of environment business values and how they apply it to their planning process, which I think would be much more helpful than what we have so far, which is table 1 on page -- Exhibit A14, schedule 6, which is simply a statement that they take into consideration safety and environment.

MS. NOWINA:  Can the witness panel give me a little bit more of an explanation of what this document is?  How many pages long is it?  Is it a generic document that goes to every department in exactly the same manner, that everyone applies in the same way?  Tell me a little bit more about it, that you can, that isn't confidential.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly, Madam Chair, I can.

The document -- the documents, I guess, consist of a reference guide, which is produced at the beginning of the planning process, which lays out some of the fundamentals that you are seeing here, and then lays out some of the specific risk matrices that will be used in this year's planning process.  And it is some of those specific risk matrices that we have particular concerns about, because they are the details of -- across all of the business values, what we would consider to be a catastrophic event, a major event, a minor event, a very small event.  It is that sort of detailed characterization, which is also there.

And then there are -- and that is a common document given to everyone.  And then there are common sessions which are run through the asset management organization, which sometimes have a base of the presentation which is the same, and then sometimes it is focussed a little bit for the area.  Like if you are dealing with station refurbishment or line maintenance in -- or TRD.  There's sometimes a little bit different focus given to the end of those presentations, in terms of taking people through how they should go about applying that material.

I don't know if that is helpful, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  That is helpful.  The base document, or the first one you mentioned, how many pages -- is it a PowerPoint presentation?  Is it a more detailed document than that?  How many pages is it approximately?  Is it a 50-page document?  A 300-page document?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will say it is about a 30-page document, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anybody else have a comment on this?  Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Madam Chair, just to add two points.  First of all, just hearing the description that we have heard, in our submission, what Hydro One defines as a catastrophic risk versus a minor risk is something that I would think is relevant to this Board's determination and would be relevant to the issues before you.

On the issue of prohibition of obtaining a document on the basis of timing, that it was not asked for during the interrogatory process, I think that, again, in our submission, is a dangerous road to go down for two reasons.

One, the reality of these hearings is that sometimes you are not aware that documents exist or that you have certain lines of cross-examination until the interrogatory process is over.

Secondly, I think if this Board were to establish the basis for not receiving documents during a hearing on the issue of timing, the incentive that that will create for parties is to ask interrogatories for every single possible document that could ever come up.  And I would suggest, from a policy perspective, that is something that the Board would want to avoid, not promote.

And so in our submission, if you are not going to order that the document be produced, it should not be on the basis of timing.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any other comments?

MR. ROGERS:  Just this:  I am instructed -- and I haven't seen the document.  I don't know any more than anybody here about it.  But I am instructed that along with the document, there is an extensive training process that goes on to explain to people how to use and apply the document.  So I question how much value it is going to be just by producing the document alone, but I am told very little, without the training to understand how to use it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It would be difficult on face value.

And also just partly in response to the point that this has only come up now, under cross-examination on transmission and distribution I, at many points, made reference to the training that goes on.  I may not have specifically mentioned a document, but I specifically mentioned training in the last two proceedings, for sure.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thanks.  Let's take our break and we will decide during the break.  We will return in 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:33 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:58 p.m.
Procedural Matters:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

Mr. Rogers, we would like the document that Mr. Buonaguro requested filed, in confidence, if you'd like.

Perhaps you can give me a name for that document.  Would we call it planning instructions?  What would you call the document?  Do you have a name for your document?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think there is a name.  I can't remember the exact name.  Planning reference guide I'll say now.

MS. NOWINA:  Planning reference guide is good enough.  So we would like that filed, whatever its prohibitive -- someone give me the word -- probative, thank you, not prohibitive -- probative value, and the weight we will put to it we will determine after it's been cross-examined on.

So that is the generic document you said went to everyone.  Then there was some discussion about more specific instructions being included in the presentation.  Would those specific instructions be by department or by category of planning?  For example, would it be development capital or would it be a particular department?  A lines department would get different instructions?  What are the subcategories of these documents?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The direct answer to your question, Madam Chair, is they usually are across asset categories, so different types of assets.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The training is done -- a lot of the training is done manager to department sitting down at a computer going through examples with this reference guide beside you.

I would like to note that the reference guide, when you get it, Madam Chair, is kind of like a set of tax schedules without the instructions on how to use them.  That kind of comes through the teaching of and going through it with the material.

I am a little bit worried, when we give you this reference guide, I am afraid -- if I gave you the impression it takes you through the process step by step, it doesn't.

If you wanted, I could walk you through an example of showing you what exactly we do and how we would have employed the reference guide and kind of give you a mini-tutorial of what would have happened between manager and employee, if that would be helpful, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  If you think it would be helpful, then we would be very open to it.  The reason I was asking about the specific instance of it is whether or not it would be useful for you to file one example for us to walk through and understand it.

So I think that is what you're suggesting, is you would walk us through an example?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I could do that.  I would like to point out in Exhibit A-14-6 there is an example, starting on page -- bottom of page 6 and page 7 which does walk through an example.

I was going to pick one of the examples from the VECC interrogatories to walk you through, but the example outlined in the evidence --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Mr. Van Dusen.  I think what Ms. Nowina means is produce the instructions, and then walk us through it.  Isn't that what --

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Not now.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Not now.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh.

MS. NOWINA:  Not now.

MR. ROGERS:  You'll be back.  You'll be back.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Produce the instructions, and then walk us through it, is what we're looking for, exactly, and have a specific example to take us through.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I understand.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, does that meet your requirements?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That will be excellent.  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So let's talk about practicality and timing.  So this is something you would like -- I assume Hydro One would like to do in camera?

MR. ROGERS:  Apparently, yes.  I haven't seen the document.  I think I need a little time to look at it  and -- yes, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Let's work from that assumption, since you said that you would like it filed in confidence.  If we can change that, that would be great.

Could it be filed tonight or by first thing tomorrow morning, and, if it was, would intervenors feel comfortable in tomorrow's in camera session cross-examining this panel on it?  I think our only other option is to bring the panel back, which I would prefer not to do, if we can avoid it.

Any thoughts on that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that if we get it today, this afternoon or tonight, then that should be okay.  I think -- I am assuming we're talking about the in camera session for Mr. DeRose's cross of this panel?

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Between tonight and during his cross, I could probably look through the document, and then I think most of it is going to be, from what I am hearing, Mr. Van Dusen taking us through it, through the example, I think will do a lot of the cross, but then they can follow up with that, I think.  For my purposes, I think that would be sufficient.

MS. NOWINA:  Is it readily enough available?  Is it available electronically?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think it is readily available and available electronically.

I am assuming some of my staff who are listening to me can run and go find that and correct me or send a note down to our counsel here from the cheap seats and let them know what exactly it is.  I think it can be done, Madam Chair.

MR. ROGERS:  We can retrieve it electronically, but I don't think we can disseminate it electronically.

MS. NOWINA:  Because it is confidential?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think if they sent it to somebody here who could print it here or Board Staff, it is only 30 pages.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we continue with the rest of today and someone in the background can work on that, perhaps, and let us know before the day is over where we stand on that.  All right.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro (continued):

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

I am going to turn up Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 39.  I think Mr. DeVellis brought you to this before.  It is the page 2 of the interrogatory response.  This is an example of the 2010 and 2011 comparison to filed versus minimum level, the variance in each capital spending area, and then over the page, it goes on the O&M spending area.

Do you have that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the top of the response A, at the second sentence, it says:
"Hydro One notes that the Minimum level of investment is neither a sustainable or desirable level of investment over the medium term but may be unavoidable because of constraints in the short term."

When you talk about the medium term, what horizon are you talking about?  What time frame?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Over the medium term, we're talking here is really the five-year period.

The short term is really talking about a discrete one-year -- hopefully one-year situation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

Now, my understanding, I guess in part because of what you say here -- well, my understanding is that -- perhaps I need you actually to turn up a different one, Exhibit H, tab 7, schedule 51.  That's the one I referred you to during Mr. DeVellis's cross, and the second page.

And this shows an example of -- I think in this case the example is -- I can't see the example on that table.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe it is station maintenance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think the first part is the station maintenance.  It shows the minimum level, and it shows total costs over five years $99.9 million, which shows that the planning -- at the planning phase when you are planning the minimum level, to suggest that you are planning a five-year expenditure for that -- for each line item?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then I am not going to go back, but if you go back to the other example, the other table on H-7-39, and you look at stations, you will actually see the year 1 and year 2 subsets of the $99.9 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have -- actually, I do.  I think the first one there is O&M; right?  So it would be...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  You would be looking at page 3 of H-7-39 at the very top.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Under "Sustaining Stations".

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It would be the distributing and regulating stations.  I believe that's where the station maintenance is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So for 2010, you have there 18.7 million and for 2011 you have $20.7 million as the minimum levels for those specific years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But those are subsets of a five-year minimum level spending of 99 --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  $99.9 million.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My understanding is that you don't necessarily, for example, have to spend the 18.7 million in year 1 or the 20.4 million in year 2 -- or 20.7 in year 2.  There may be some interchangeability, absent specific identifiable risks.

And it may in fact be necessary, because of constraints on your ability to do the work or do the spending in the particular year.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly one of the factors that's taken into consideration through the planning process is the ability to do the work.  So there's many reasons why you may wish to do a level 2 or level 3 at any -- of any investment level, but you choose a lower level.

It could be, you know, the resources aren't available; you can't get the material.  The skilled type of engineers aren't available.  Or it could be that overall, the company is judged that the level of expenditure is too high, and because of its impact on rates.

So longwinded way of saying, yes, sometimes you do play a bit with, you know, where you are going to spend based on constraints, but that's part of the overall process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we go back to Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 6, which is where I started, I think that is what you are describing here in the second paragraph.  Are you at page 6?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I'm there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I'm talking to the monitor.

[Laughter.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  The second paragraph, it says:

"In the absence of any specific risk tied to a shorter time frame within the five-year planning horizon, specific investments may be rescheduled from one time period to another within the five-year planning horizon."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I could expand on that a little bit, depending on what you are moving, you could, in theory, or at least there is the possibility in some categories of moving something from year 1 to year 5, for example, at the extreme?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally, I think that's a little bit unusual to move it that far.  But the concept in moving it from one year to another year is not unusual.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, there is one thing.  If you do move it from one year to another year, you have to look at what constraints you will have in that following year, whether you actually do have the people to do the work.  So it is not just simply saying:  Yes, I will move it here.  The question is:  Can I actually do it?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  Thank you.

And so that is at a minimum level.  Presumably, that means as you increase your levels of spending above the minimum level within a five-year planning period, that increased spending would give you even more flexibility to move things from one year to the other?  Because those are spending amounts that are above the minimum level; correct?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  I wouldn't agree with you on that one.  I -- it really depends on the ability to do the work.

So for example, you may decide to do minimum spend in one year and do, let's say, level 2 or level 3 spend in the following year to make up for it.  The problem is you may not either have the resources, the capability or the materials to do it.

We try and plan it so that we can actually do the work, and that's how the work is laid out.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand, but at the same time if your minimum level over a five-year horizon for station O&M spending, which is the example which we had in Exhibit, I think, 51; H-7-51 was 99.9 million -- and your level 1 spending for that same five-year planning period for that same area of spending is 119.3 million.  You have approximately $20 million in spending, which isn't in your plan because it is minimum level spending.  It is in your plan because it is level 1 spending; correct?

And all I am suggesting is that that $20 million has a little more flexibility attached to it by that very nature, notwithstanding that you might simply not be able to do that work, if you don't have enough people to do it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't necessarily agree.  I don't understand why it would necessarily be easier to move around just because there is more of it.  I don't follow the logic.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if it was -- if you didn't have as much flexibility to move it, wouldn't it be in your minimum-level spending?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's not the criteria of why a minimum level is a minimum level.  It's not there to add additional flexibility to move it sometime in a different place.  It is there because that level is a higher level of expenditure to reduce some residual work -- risk, and obviously, accomplish more work.  So you do it very specifically in very specific years to achieve your long-term goals.

So I am not too sure I understand why higher levels necessarily mean it is more flexibility to move around.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And going back to H-7-51, page 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess, using "Station" as an example, again, I can see here under each of the different categories of risk -- financial, reputation, regulatory and so on -- you have made assessments of the consequences and the likelihoods?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understand that, I guess the range -- it ranges in each category from -- the consequences ranges from -- well, perhaps you can tell me.

What's the minimum consequence level?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We call it a minimum level, and then I think the top level is called "catastrophic".

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

And we don't see any catastrophic in there, but we see --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  By definition, the minimum level of spending would make sure that you are just on the cusp of that; you are outside of that.  Hydro One would never plan such that there was a very high probability and likelihood that the catastrophic events would occur, so you would never see on a table like this a minimum level like that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I was just observing.  I didn't see it there.  That's all.

So is there anything on this table -- I think the worst thing we have on this table is major consequences with a very likely likelihood of happening.  So for example, "customer" -- under "customer" you have "consequence major likelihood, very likely"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that considered unacceptable?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, it's not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I can take you to A-14-6, page 8, so this is Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 6, page 8.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If you take a look at the matrix, this is kind of the matrix I have been describing.  It talks about the likelihood and the -- and then the type of event across the top.  I see we call it "worst case" here, but anyway...

So if you take a look at this matrix, and you took a look at that consequence of major and the likelihood of very likely, it would show you where in this matrix you would be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So that would be just on the outside of what we consider the unacceptable risk zone.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  And minimum expenditures are to place you just outside of the red zone.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If I can characterize it that way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So reading this table on H-7-51, with respect to station spending in the OM&A area, a minimum level of spending over the five-year horizon is categorized as $99.9 million.  And if you spend that money over the five years, you will avoid unacceptable risk within the five years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, it's not an all-or-nothing.

If you -- the way it works is if you spend at that level through that period, there is higher probability each and every year that you go through that the unacceptable worst-case event will happen.  But certainly at the end of the planning period, you would be in the red zone for sure.

So it would keep you hopefully outside, with increasing probabilities as every year went along, but by the time you got past year 5, we are saying from a risk-based approach, you would most likely have a worst-case event.  We would be in the red zone, which is something the company has decided it does not want to do.  It is an event which the company says would be unacceptable, and unacceptable according to our business values.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am a little confused, and maybe it is just the way the table is presented, because it says level minimum, it says over five years, the minimum level is 99.9 million.

And then it assesses the risks in each of those -- each of your business categories or your -- sorry, your risk -- I guess you call your business-value categories, in various ways, consequence and likelihood.  But if I am not -- if I'm correct, it never approaches -- in any particular category, it never approaches anything that shows up on your business evaluation matrix at table 2 of Exhibit A-14-06 as being in the unacceptable risk zone.

So just looking at this table, it doesn't capture -- at least the table doesn't capture this idea that spending $99.9 million in the five-year period is unacceptable.  It doesn't capture that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry.  I will repeat myself.  I thought I'd answered that question.

By definition, the spending at the minimum level, according to the way we run the process, should keep you out of that red zone with any luck, based on probability theory, should keep you out of that red zone over the five-year period.

However, the laws of probability are such that you don't necessarily -- it isn't necessarily a smooth scope -- a smooth slope.

The probability increases each year as you go out, and by the time you get to the end of the fifth year, from a probability point of view you would be in that red zone.  But that doesn't mean in year 2 or 3 or 4 that that catastrophic event won't happen.

We're just saying that chances are it won't, from a probability risk points of view, but it doesn't mean it won't happen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.

But what I don't -- I will only ask one more time, just to make sure I understand what you're saying.

On the one hand, you're saying the minimum risk is designed to avoid unacceptable risk within the five-year horizon.  At the same time, you're saying that by the time you hit year 5, you will be in the unacceptable risk zone.

It sounds like you're saying both things to me.  That's why I am getting confused.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am, but they're not contradictory.  They're internally consistent.

If you spend at the minimum level, we say that you will -- you will most likely avoid being in the red zone over the five-year period.  But from a probability point of view, once you get beyond that, you will most likely be in the red zone, i.e., there is a very likely -- or likely circumstance, likely chance that there will be a severe or worst case event.

MS. NOWINA:  In year 6?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry?

MS. NOWINA:  In year 6?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The probability raises.  It doesn't say the event will happen.

MS. NOWINA:  In terms of your matrix where you are talking about probabilities versus the severity of the event, those two things are going to come together and be at the top, in your red zone, in year 6?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  If you continue to spend at the minimum level.

MS. NOWINA:  If you continue to spend at the minimum level.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, ma'am.

MS. NOWINA:  But within the five years, you're just outside it.  You keep edging closer towards it.  That is the theory.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Of course you never know what will really happen, but that's the theory?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very, very much.

I can move off that topic, thank you.

You talked to Mr. DeVellis a little bit about the implementation date and the change to January 1st, 2010 for the 2010 rate year.

My understanding from the evidence is that -- and the reference is -- one of the references is Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1, appendix C, which is just one of the references you talk about it.  This is presentations and discussion to stakeholders May 25th, 2009.  I am looking at page 2.

You're talking about -- sorry.  It is A-17, schedule 1, C, and it is on the screen, page 2, second paragraph under 2.1.  First of all, it says here that the timing of the application and the desire to --

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  If you could just hold on for a second?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No problem.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Which date?  Which stakeholder -- oh, the May 25th session.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If nothing else, you can use the screen to verify what I am looking at.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We are there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the second paragraph under section 2.1, the second sentence, it says:
"The timing of the Application and the desire to move to an implementation of rates on January 1st of the year is based on input and discussions with OEB staff."


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any formal communication from the Board requiring -- or, sorry, requesting a change in implementation date?  Is there any formal correspondence underpinning this suggestion that it was input and discussions with the OEB Staff?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I do not believe so.  And further, unfortunately, this was a little bit before my joining regulatory affairs, so I am not sure.  I don't believe so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps an undertaking just to check and, if there is, produce?

MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that there is no formal direction.  It was discussions between Ms. Frank, I think, and a member of the Board Staff and it is not -- well...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I will accept that.

It goes on to say:
"The earlier rate implementation date should facilitate the incorporation of the new Hydro One standard Transmission (ST) rates by other LDCs into their own rates that would usually take effect on May 1, 2010."


My understanding -- am I correct that is the primary reason you're asking for this relief?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's the primary driver.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the fact that -- Mr. DeVellis talked about other LDCs, for example, Hydro Ottawa, and I believe in the -- just recently, I think Enersource applied for a similar change to their rate years.  I know you are aware of Hydro Ottawa, because you went through the decision.

Were you aware of Enersource's request?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I was not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to take the Enersource example.  Enersource is an embedded distributor within Hydro One Networks, I believe?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will accept that.  I don't know.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Accept that, subject to check.

If they were to change their rate year to January 1st, then the stated objective of facilitating the incorporation of Hydro One's standard transmission rates by other LDCs would be frustrated, I would think; would it not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  It most likely would be, to some extent, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding is -- you went through with Mr. DeVellis about the $44.3 million rate impact of moving rates up to January 1st, 2010.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding of that, that was not a part of the rationale for moving the implementation date, the collection of an extra $44 million in revenue?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think when I was speaking to Mr. DeVellis, I indicated that implementing the rates such that the other LDCs could take it into account was one of the other factors.  There are other internal factors.

One was more aligning it with our own calendar year, and our business processes is more important to us.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  But I guess the secondary effect of increasing your rates $44 million was not a reason?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not aware that it was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think -- my understanding of your discussion with Mr. DeVellis about not seeking interim rates -- in response to his question about the 44.3 million, you talked about not seeking interim rates?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the impression I got was that while you understood that the effect of moving the rate year up for 2010 was an increase in rates of $44.3 million, the fact that you hadn't asked for interim rates would balance that out, because the effective date of your rates would be such most, if not all, of that $44 million would never be collected.  Is that a fair description of what you're anticipating?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think, to be clear, is at this point in time, no, we have not asked for interim rates.

But to the extent that the implementation of our rates gets delayed for whatever reason, we may have to reconsider that situation.

So I think that is what I put on record.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I asked that because it was in response to this concern about the $44 million.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So certainly if the course went such that the hearing ends, and the Board deliberates and renders its decision and we implement rates, that will be when it is.  We are hopeful that is as soon as it can reasonably be.

But at this point in time, we are just reserving the right to -- you know, if it gets inordinately delayed for whatever reason, we may come back and ask for interim rates.  That's all I'm saying.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to ask you this.  If the reason behind the change isn't the collection of the extra $44 million in rates and assuming that, for example, rates could be implemented and effective on a date prior to May 1st such that there is extra revenue being collected, in an unintended sense, would Hydro One be willing to refund that part of the rates back?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, to be clear, we also have a work program that we intend to undertake.

So very much on the concept if you fund us to do the work, we'll do the work.  It's not our intention to spend money that we don't have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it seems like you acknowledge that the simple fact of moving your rates up four months creates an overcollection of $44 million?

MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I didn't say that.  I said we would intend to undertake the work program that we have laid out in the filing.  To the extent that that is delayed, then obviously it delays when we can undertake that work.

MS. NOWINA:  Can I just ask for clarity on that, Mr. Struthers?

So the work program that is the basis of the rates you're asking for, if your rates were to go into effect January 1, then you would expect to start that work program immediately?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We are already planning to undertake that work program.  We have some flexibility in the work program to be able to accelerate or decelerate the work.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Because there is a certain amount of work we do regardless.

MS. NOWINA:  Sure.

MR. STRUTHERS:  To the extent that we have the funding to do that work, obviously we will accelerate the work to complete it.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  If you don't have the funding, if the rates are delayed, then you will decelerate and slow down the process?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Then we would decelerate the work and slow it down.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that means -- from that, I take it you don't see the $44 million as being an overcollection of rates based on the existing rate order versus the new implementation date of the new rate order?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I do not see it as being an overcollection of revenues.

We have expenses that we intend to spend against those revenues.  We have a work program that is based on that revenue.  To the extent we get it, we will do the work program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Lastly, I think you mostly clarified Hydro One's position on -- this goes back to the Green Energy Plan, and the suggestion that it may be acceptable to have a funding adder, and a variance account or deferral account associated with it, in terms of collecting money to fund the Green Energy Plan and then to -- and then to true it up?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  That was what I proposed.

I proposed there would be some form of adder that would allow us to be able to undertake the program, so we would receive funding.  And then we would off -- we would come to the end of the year and adjust where we were against those costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then in connection with that particular issue, I'd asked panel 1 to calculate what the funding adder would look like, based on your Green Energy Plan.

And I was deferred to your panel.  And I would ask you to do the same, by way of undertaking.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, actually, we did that calculation.  I think I have it here.  One second, please.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, great.  It was in my head as if I'd asked the undertaking, but I noticed on the transcript there was no undertaking, so...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So as we understood it, this was for the smart grid, if the smart grid was added to -- was put in a rate adder.

And for 2010, based on a volumetric -- so this is cents per kilowatt-hour -- it would be 0.031 cents per kilowatt-hour in 2010.

And the smart grid adder in 2011 would be 0.045 cents per kilowatt-hour.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you were very careful to specify that it was for smart grid.

Why did you hive that out from the calculation?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess that's how we interpreted your question.  Did you want it for all of the Green?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I did actually calculate that as well.  I can provide that to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be great.  Thank you.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So for the -- so the net Green -- so this is the Green, so this includes the smart grid.  The adder in 2010 -- once again this is volumetric, cents per kilowatt-hour -- is 0.040.  And in 2011, it is 0.054.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How does that --

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, I'm sorry.  Madam Chair, can I just ask the witness to clarify now, in view of our discussion this morning?  Those are the direct Green plan costs we talked about this morning?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Basically, my understanding is that that translates your filing into an adder, when it comes to the Green Energy Plan?  That second one?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And how would that be collected?  Is that based on a collection of January 1st, 2010 to December 31st, 2010?  Or how does it work?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was calculated as an annual impact, that when it gets collected would be subject to the Board's direction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And just for clarification, collected from who?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think that is partly the subject of the January discussion, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. ROGERS:  So these costs, if I may just interrupt, these costs, then, you have given us here include both those that in the present proposal before the Board, are to be collected from your customers, as well as those to be recovered from all provincial customers?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, I see.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that right, Mr. --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the clarification I was looking for.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  No, thank you.  So that means it isn't split into distribution customers and all -- your distribution customers and all other customers, is it?

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry.  Excuse me, I think I misspoke.

I am instructed -- and I will confirm this for you in the morning -- that this rate adder would only cover the costs which in the present proposal before you, includes the costs attributed to the Hydro One customers.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fifteen percent.

MR. ROGERS:  It would be higher if the others were added.  And I'm sorry.  I will confirm that in the morning, but that is my understanding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  Okay.

Thank you.  Those are my questions

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. Stevenson or Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  I think we can --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  I think we can go next, and -- because there is not much left for us and we follow the sort of same themes here.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  I want to talk to you about the minimum level of funding and your funding -- your planning matrix, et cetera.

Where, in the factors that you have described, is the factor -- or does it exist at all, the factor of customer affordability fit?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  As I described earlier today when I was talking about the planning process, the initial plans are put together kind of based on a concept of no-constraint.  So if we had to do what the assets needed, what we know the assets need from all of our studies and information, what would be the proposal?

At that point, after it comes out of the prioritization process, it is subject to constraints discussion, and it is during the constraints discussion that the customer affordability is brought to bear.

MR. CROCKER:  Now, in the -- in the planning guideline document that we are going to see, will this aspect of the planning come out?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, it will not.

MR. CROCKER:  Will it come out -- does it come out in the instructions that you provide those who use that planning document?  In other words, will you instruct us when you are instructing on its use, where customer affordability fits?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  That the -- one of the business values is customer and customer impacts, but as I said, the discussion of affordability happens after the initial plan is put together, and then it is taken through a series of constraints.  We then start applying constraints to it.  What work can we do?  What outages can we do?  What material can we acquire?  And what can the customers afford?  And those discussions are discussions usually at the senior management team level.

MR. CROCKER:  In what I have reviewed, and more importantly what Mr. Clark has reviewed here, we don't think that there is reference to customer affordability in the material that we have reviewed.

Is there other, other than -- you have made reference, and I am aware of the references that you made earlier in the day.  In the constraint discussion that you have just described, are there documents, is there documentation which will show us how you factor customer affordability?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  There was confidential material that you have access to, or I am assuming you have access to it.  And it talks about the business plan, the business plan process.  It talks about customer impacts.

When we take the Board through that material, and again, the focus very much this year, both -- both in the business planning process and also in the budget process was the impacts of these rate increases on customers.  And we talked extensively with the board around rate increases.

MR. CROCKER:  With your board?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  Yes, I'm sorry, the Hydro One board, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Can I take it, then, that you don't leave that issue in the hands of this Board, the OEB?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, the OEB makes the ultimate decision.  What we put forward in our rate proposal is a proposal that's based on the work we think that has to be done, recognizing all things coming down the pipe, recognizing that we have a Green Energy Act, recognizing the constraints that we have, recognizing all the items that are on the table.  And we put together and presentation to you a plan which we think it is, in the company's view, fair, reasonable, and represents what needs to be done in order to maintain the assets.  And yourselves and the Board make the determination whether that is appropriate or not.

MR. CROCKER:  And is it fair to say that part of the process clearly includes these hearings and all of the preliminary discussions and sessions which lead up to these hearings?  And to some extent, this Board's responsibility, I guess, is to factor your presentation on what you need versus the issue of customer affordability?

MR. STRUTHERS:  The Board has a role.  The company has a role, which it believes is appropriate in the nature of the assets.

It clearly takes that discussion to its board and also takes it to the shareholder.

We then come forward with a rate proposal and then the Board has responsibilities.

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure that is a clear answer to my question, but I am not sure no matter -- how many more times I ask it or how many different ways I ask it, I think I am probably going to have to live with that.

MS. NOWINA:  I am not quite ready to live with it, Mr. Crocker.  I just want to clarify, because in your -- I think previously whenever you discussed this, the way I understood your evidence was that your formal methodology regarding planning, that we're going to talk about tomorrow, doesn't talk about customer affordability.  It talked about customer impacts, but doesn't talk about affordability.


However, when the plan gets to your senior management, your executive and your board, my understanding was, from your previous comments, that there is a discussion there on affordability and perhaps a change to the plan based on that discussion.  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. STRUTHERS:  At that level, the board can make a decision as to whether it believes that there should be a change or whether it believes that we should proceed with the plan that is in place.

MS. NOWINA:  And that discussion on affordability takes place there, whether or not they change the plan?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  At the board level, certainly when the budget was presented to them and certainly when this plan was presented to them, there was a considerable discussion on the rate impacts to customers.

MS. NOWINA:  I wanted to clarify that, because that is what I heard you say previously, but, in the discussion that you just had, it seemed to me that you were more saying that's outside of Hydro One's hands and it comes strictly here.

And that is not what I heard you say earlier.

MR. STRUTHERS:  No, that is not the case.  No, no.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Let's continue this discussion a bit or -- in the context of the vegetation management issue.

You have asked for, in this application, increased funding for vegetation management.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Perhaps I should have copied this.  I apologize.  I can.  I'm reading from your submission in EB- 2007-0681 at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2.

I apologize, I should have had Board Staff copy this.

MR. ROGERS:  May I suggest that Mr. Crocker just read it?  Mr. Mr. Van Dusen was there.  I think he may recall --

MR. CROCKER:  I am going to.

MR. ROGERS:  Just let me finish.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, what was the reference again, please?

MR. CROCKER:  C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 31.

MS. NOWINA:  From another proceeding?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  I'm sorry, it is 2006 -- 2007-0681.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the previous distribution case?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you happen to have those materials with you?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Yes, we do.

MR. CROCKER:  I am reading from the paragraph that begins at line 17.  Are you with me?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we are.

MR. CROCKER:  "Hydro One Distribution's goal is to
continue to increase accomplishments for line clearing with an objective to reach an optimum cycle from our liability perspective of eight years by 2008."

My question is:  If you had -- if that's what you were looking for with respect to that application -- and you achieved it.  You were funded for that, were you not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We were funded for that.  I don't believe we achieved it, but that is a better question for panel 3.

MR. CROCKER:  But you were funded for it, which is the point I am making.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. CROCKER:  Now you are asking for more.  My question is:  What level of spending are you asking for here?

This is obviously not the minimum level.  What you were asking for wasn't the minimum level then.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think that information is in evidence.  I just don't have it at my hand.  Panel 3 will know that right off the top of their head, what level it is.  I would suggest you could take it up -- it is greater than minimum.  I believe it is funding at level 2, but I could be mistaken, but panel 3 will know for sure.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, my question is, and I can ask it of panel 3, but if, if you...

I am trying to make sense of the words you have used.  You said optimum cycle.  You would think that would be more than a -- one of your more -- your lower levels.  You would think you would be looking for something higher.  You would be describing the fact that you are looking for something high -- you were looking for something higher then, and you were funded for it and that you are looking for something even higher now.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In terms of the levels of expenditures and the changes when you go from a minimum to level 1 and level 2, that change is not uniform across all of the work programs.  Obviously some of the work programs are much larger than others and have different types of impact.

We designed the different levels such that there is some significant change in the impact to risk across the business values.

So in any given investment, there may be two levels that adequately describe the range of type of expenditures that we may wish to consider, or there may be four levels of expenditures to adequately describe the range of potentials that we might consider.

So I am a little -- I don't remember offhand how many levels there were in vegetation management, and, like I say, I think it is level 2, but panel 3 will know for sure.

MR. CROCKER:  Going back, then, to the theme that has been part of what all of the questions have been today, in light of the economic times, in light of the issue of customer affordability, when considering what you were asking for with respect to vegetation management, was there -- and what you were also having to deal with, with respect to the Green Energy Plan, was there any thought given to either scaling down the request here or balancing the importance, the need for the Green Energy Plan, and -- I am just using vegetation management as an example -- or deferring or in some respect reducing the request with respect to vegetation management in order to reflect economic times and the issue of customer affordability?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  The question is a good one and I don't object to it, but I just point out that the upcoming panels can explain to the Board that there was a benchmarking study done at the Board's direction on this vegetation clearing cycle.

And the company is following the benchmarking study's recommendation, as I believe this Board directed it to do.  But the question is still a valid question.  I just wanted the Board to be aware of that.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I can answer your question.

We talked about the matrix of strategic items that we're trying to achieve, one of which is customer satisfaction.  We've got productivity issues.  We've got reliability issues.  We have a whole bunch of things.

We're trying to put a package together and place a package that does all of those things.  We have safety issues that we need to address, as well.  They're built into the programs.

This whole package is based on us putting together what we believe is the right thing to do in the most affordable manner that we can, recognizing the impact on our customers.

We are very aware of the impact on customers.

MR. CROCKER:  I will canvass this again, I guess, with panel 3, but I wonder whether it would give us a better sense as to how you dealt with those issues if we looked at the level of security or spending which you applied to the issues which made up this application, specifically.

You said it averaged -- I think Mr. Van Dusen said it averaged 1.5, or something like that.  I wonder whether there would be value in our understanding -- getting a clearer understanding of this if we saw specific levels of spending.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can certainly guarantee you with the vegetation management that panel will be able -- panel 3 will be able to take you through the various levels, and what were the expenditures associated with those levels and the accomplishments associated with those levels.

And then, you know, to the extent it is helpful to take you through a bit of the decision process, where we landed up with that was actually relatively straightforward with respect to vegetation management.

MR. CROCKER:  But what about -- but my question is, do you think we would have a better understanding of what you were prepared to defer, what you hadn't, what you weren't prepared to defer, and the balancing which Mr. Struthers has described, if we saw the level of spending which you thought appropriate for various different elements of this application?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think we will try and take the Board and the Members through sort of part of that business planning process in the in camera session, or tomorrow anyway.

That hopefully may help you understand the logic and rationale that we use.  But you have to understand that we have a number of programs; we would have done that with each one of those programs.

What you have here is a package of items, some with conflicting priorities from the point of view -- is it less effective for a customer?  Is it better on reliability?  How would a customer look at reliability versus cost?

So there are a number of elements to it.  I am not sure how to get to the detail, or the detail you want to get to.


MR. CROCKER:  What I was simply asking is -- and I obviously didn't ask it clearly enough -- do you think we would have a better understanding of the results of the process you have just described if we see the level of spending which comes out at the end for all of the programs which are part of the application?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we do have that, Mr. Crocker.  Is what you're looking for the difference between what went into the planning process and then what came out of the planning process?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So that is the question.  And I have no idea whether there is an answer to it, but that is the question I think that you are looking for.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, there was a beginning and there is an end.  We're not quite at the end yet, but we are getting close to it.  We went through this in one of the last cases, where we had, I remember, a matrix showing all of the opening requests, and went through the planning process and the Sunnybrook -- I've forgot which case it was -- the various meetings showing the transition.

MS. NOWINA:  I am not clear exactly, Mr. Crocker, what you are asking for, or the question that you are asking the witness -- I mean are you asking them to answer a yes or no?  Or are you asking for information that you don't believe you have?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, there was going to be a second question after they answered --


MS. NOWINA:  After they answered yes or no?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Maybe you want to ask the question again, so they understand that that is all that is required as a response.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you think it would be helpful -- let's take vegetation management as an example, and then we can -- you can apply it however -- we can apply it to the other programs.

Do you think it would be helpful for us to know, to understand the planning process you have described -- that is what goes in to the board, what's discussed in the planning process by the board, what comes out at the other end -- to know the, number one, the level of spending that you propose for the program, particularly vegetation management, and what you proposed when you took that issue to the board.

And then if you say yes to that, it would be helpful.  Then should we also have the same information with respect to all of the programs that you are applying for?

MR. STRUTHERS:  With respect to the material that was taken to the board, you have that board material.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't think we know what you were specifically -- with respect, again, to vegetation management, I don't think we know the level of spending - and maybe I am wrong and if I am, I am sure you will tell me - the level of spending you were asking for before, that you thought was necessary before you began your discussions with the board and what the results of those discussions were.

In other words, how was the issue of customer affordability factored in, and if it was at the board level discussion, how was it factored into the planning?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will try to be of assistance, Madam Chair.

So the, I think it may be helpful for you to have panel 3 take you through the vegetation management example.

I actually don't think you will find it very interesting.  Vegetation management, from the direction from this Board and from all of the information we have is a little bit -- little bit simpler, to be honest.

However, in terms of the process, certainly the issues of affordability and the constraints that we're talking about are not just discussed in the final board meeting.  They're discussed all along.  That's how we apply the constraints.

We generate the initial view, and then applying the constraints is what takes all of the time and all the discussion.  When we get to the board of directors, the management team has come and said:  This is our balanced approach.  Here are the types of considerations we took into account.  Do you agree with us?  Can we go forward?

So the considerations of customer impact are not just taken into account at the board of directors.  They're taken account throughout the process in many senior team management teams.  It is just not how we start it initially.

The very start of the process, we say:  You, as an asset planner, bring us back what you think the asset needs.  Don't worry about constraints now.  Tell us what your asset condition assessment says, and bring it back.

What that allows us to do, Madam Chair, is take a look at the residual risk.  We now know if we start at X level and end up at X minus five, for very valid reasons, we can articulate in some manner that additional risk we're leaving on the table.  It gives us a method of being able to articulate to the senior management team and to this Board, what additional risks that we are accepting by not doing that work that we might have otherwise done.

MS. NOWINA:  Can we move on, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Mm-hmm.  I have one further question on this point and then we can move on.

Can you tell me, Mr. Van Dusen, whether -- or maybe I will wait.  I will ask panel 3.  If panel 3 says I should have asked you, I guess I will lose.

[Laughter.]

MR. CROCKER:  I just have one further area I would like to talk about.  I would like you to turn up, please, Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 4.

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is "D" for David?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  This monitor isn't working, so I don't have it in front of me, but...

MR. ROGERS:  You have to turn it on, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  No, it's on.  No, no.  See that little light on there?  That says it's on.  I am not very good, but I am that good.

Would you agree with me that your -- I will let you turn it up.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Sorry, we're there.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We're at table 2 on page 4, I am advised.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Thank you.  We have it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?  Your working capital requirement for sales tax includes the five percent GST; doesn't discuss the move to the harmonized sales tax.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I really feel this should go to panel 4.  This is where it can be discussed in detail.  The witnesses on panel 4 are prepared to talk about this.  I would be guessing.  I'm sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Fine.  Thank you.  I have nothing further.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Stephenson, how long do you expect to be?  Don't look at that clock.  It is not going to help you at all.

[Laughter.]

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am intimately familiar with the limitations of that clock.  More than five minutes, but less than half an hour.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we hold it off till morning, Mr. Stephenson?  Is that all right with you?  Can you be here tomorrow morning?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I can be here tomorrow morning.  The only thing I would ask is that if that is the case, I would desperately like to -- I believe panel 3 will be up some time tomorrow, but I really don't want to wait around until the end of the day to catch the end of panel 3, is my only concern.  If I am going to be first up, I would really like to leave after I had done that.

MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.  Are you going to cross-examine panel 3, as well?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I do have a cross-examination on panel 3, but I would I like to do that on Monday if I am going to be first up tomorrow.  That's all.

MS. NOWINA:  I see.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I think it is quite likely panel 3 will spill onto Monday, so hopefully that won't be a problem.

MS. NOWINA:  Yeah.  I don't think that will be an issue, Mr. Stephenson.  That's --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  That's perfectly fine.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  People aren't lining up to cross-examine on Friday afternoon.

[Laughter.]

MR. DeROSE:  We will filibuster for him.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, just tomorrow, if I could just -- if you are about to adjourn --


MS. NOWINA:  Yes?


MR. ROGERS:  First of all, I can tell you that we have copies of this document for the -- on the planning process.

MS. NOWINA:  Oh, good.

MR. ROGERS:  And the good news is it is not 30 pages long; it is 29 pages long.

MS. NOWINA:  How helpful.

MR. ROGERS:  And I can distribute that and then hopefully tomorrow morning in the in camera session, people can deal with it, if they choose.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  I remind you that tomorrow Dr. Woo is coming.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  On densities.  I would like to finish with this panel before we do Dr. Woo, if at all possible.

MS. NOWINA:  So let's talk about the schedule tomorrow morning.  We will have Mr. Stephenson briefly, not for very long, Mr. DeRose for -- how long, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  I would expect probably about 45 minutes, and I would think that that would include the in camera session.

The in camera session, I have a number of questions which I suspect may be kicked over to other panels, but because -- in an attempt to try and keep everything in a single in camera session, I think I will ask the questions.  So it might be a little bit longer if this panel is able to answer those questions.  We will have to play that by ear.

It would only be an extra 15 or 20 minutes if they do have that information.

The one request I would make is today we were talking about the document which Mr. Rogers is about to circulate, that this panel in an in camera session would walk us through it.  If that could be done prior to my cross-examination, that would be appreciated, or certainly at the beginning of the in camera session, so that I can hear the explanation before I start my cross-examination.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  I think that is a good suggestion.

MS. NOWINA:  That sounds reasonable.  That is the wild card tomorrow, is that document, however long it takes for us to be trained on it and the examination around it.

MR. ROGERS:  That's true.

MS. NOWINA:  And we will all have a look at it tonight and we will have a better sense of that in the morning.

Mr. Millar, how long do you expect your cross tomorrow to be?

MR. MILLAR:  I am still tracking at 30 minutes, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So between the documents, we're probably looking at an hour and a half, a couple of hours tomorrow morning on this topic.

Then we will move to Dr. Woo.  I understand we only have a couple of hours of examination on him, as well, and so we should be able to get to panel 3 tomorrow, but it is very doubtful we will complete panel 3 tomorrow.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I won't have them here first thing in the morning.

MS. NOWINA:  No, don't have them here in the morning.  I think that would be extremely optimistic.  All right, thank you, everyone.  See you tomorrow.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:02 p.m.
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